## Assessment of Duckling Abundance as a Biological Indicator of Wetland Health in the Prairie Pothole Region

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Science In the Department of Biology University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

By

Tyler Bryan

© Copyright Tyler Bryan, November 2022. All rights reserved. Unless otherwise noted, copyright of the material in this thesis belongs to the author.

## **Permission to Use**

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis

#### Disclaimer

Reference in this thesis to any specific commercial products, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the University of Saskatchewan. The views and opinions of the author expressed herein do not state or reflect those of the University of Saskatchewan and shall not be used for advertising or product endorsement purposes.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other uses of materials in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Biology 112 Science Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5E2 Canada

or

## Dean

College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies University of Saskatchewan 116 Thorvaldson Building, 110 Science Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5C9 Canada

i

## Abstract

Located in the central portion of North America, the Prairie Pothole Region (PPR) is one of the most biologically productive ecosystems in the world. Since European settlement, the region has undergone extensive human development, largely from agricultural practices, urban settlements, and in-part from climate change. Wetlands are often the last remaining natural ecosystems in many parts of the PPR, and they harbor critical habitat for numerous organisms, including nesting and stop-over habitat for the majority of North America's waterfowl. Due to widespread impacts from agricultural practices, the health and condition of wetlands is frequently degraded across the PPR which may affect their ability to support key species. I hypothesized that the presence and productivity of locally breeding waterfowl may be indicators of wetland condition.

I investigated relationships between duckling abundance and measurements of wetland quality to determine the potential use of ducklings as biological indicators of wetland health. In 58 wetlands located at 6 transect sites in central Saskatchewan over 2 years (2018-2019), I examined multiple factors which may determine wetland health including water quality (e.g. pH, conductivity, and Pesticide Toxicity Index), habitat characteristics (e.g. floating vegetation density, maximum water depth, percentage of surrounding grassland, and the extent of degradation of adjacent terrestrial wetland vegetation from agricultural practices), aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance and biomass, and duckling counts of dabbler species derived from bi-weekly surveys throughout the brood-rearing season. I tested relationships between dabbling duckling abundance and several wetland health measurements using generalized linear zeroinflated Poisson models. Model-averaged parameters and 95% confidence intervals (CI) indicated a significant negative effect of conductivity [-0.35 (CI: -0.83, -0.05)], a moderate adverse impact from pH [-0.26 (-0.75, 0.01)], and a slight negative, but nonsignificant effect from pesticides measured using an acute Pesticide Toxicity Index [-3.85 (-8.71, 0.54)]. Based on model-averaged confidence intervals, I found that floating vegetation density negatively impacted dabbling duckling abundance [-0.016 (-0.026, -0.006)], while maximum water depth of wetlands had a positive effect [0.703 (0.391, 1.015)]. Lastly, I found a positive association between aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance and dabbling duckling abundance (SE=0.1144; P-Value= 0.0374). Based on my findings and the current understanding of the relationship between

ii

wetland characteristics and biological productivity, I conclude that duckling abundance could potentially be used as a biological indicator of wetland health in the PPR. This insight may be useful for wetland conservation efforts in the region due to the high likelihood that human impacts from agrochemicals, drainage, and vegetation removal will continue to increase and the costs to monitor wetlands is high using traditional methods. Therefore, it is necessary to have accessible integrative tools for effectively monitoring wetland health. Based on results of my study, I suggest that surveys of duckling abundance could aid in this effort.

## Acknowledgements

In the following section I wish to acknowledge individuals, groups and institution that contributed to the making of this thesis:

My study covered a large portion of the southern region of Saskatchewan and in my duties, I have traveled, worked, and camped in the historic land of the Cree, Saulteaux bands of the Ojibwa, the Assiniboine, Dene Suliné, and Nakota Sioux peoples. During my journey, fellow Indigenous Peoples have befriended me and from their insight of traditional practices they have inspired me in many ways, the most pertinent being a deepened affinity for the Prairies.

The entirety of my data was collected on privately owned land; therefore, if it wasn't for the generosity of those landowners who gave me permission to access wetlands on their land, this project would have remained theoretical. A list of names would be too extensive; however, I would like to thank every landowner for your selfless contributions to this project.

Since I was a child, I dreamed of living in Saskatchewan and studying wildlife of the region. If it weren't for the opportunity presented by my academic advisor, Professor Christy Morrissey, that dream and this thesis would have never come to be. Along with my advisor, my committee members, Dr. Jim Devries and Dr. Bob Clark have influenced and challenged my work; from which I've gained a better understanding of science, reflected in the following pages.

The statistical analyses of this thesis would not have been possible without the assistance of my friend, Dr. David Messmer.

I am fortunate to have two strong-willed, courageous, and intelligent women in my life who have inspired me by overcoming their own difficulties and succeeded. Therefore, I would like to acknowledge my mother, Renee Bryan, and sister, Lauren Bryan for their inspiration.

My greatest supporter cannot speak nor read but I place this acknowledgement here in hopes that he will receive my gratitude. For my Labrador Retriever, Remy, invigorated me every day with his gentile demeanor, joyousness, determination, discipline, and loving disposition.

Funding was derived from grants to my supervisor from the Saskatchewan Agricultural Development Fund and Global Water Futures: Prairie Water project.

iv

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the acclaimed author John Steinbeck for inspiring and elevating my writing and cognitive abilities. His ability to understand complex interactions, objectively simplify them, and execute his writing with artistic mastery helped mold my work.

"[...] it is a strange thing that most of the feeling we call religious, most of the mystical outcrying which is one of the most prized and used and desired reactions of our species, is really the understanding and the attempt to say that man is related to the whole thing, related inextricably to all reality, known and unknowable. This is a simple thing to say, but the profound feeling of it made a Jesus, a St. Augustine, a St. Francis, a Roger Bacon, a Charles Darwin, and an Einstein. Each of them in his own tempo and with his own voice discovered and reaffirmed with astonishment the knowledge that all things are one thing and that one thing is all things plankton, a shimmering phosphorescence on the sea and the spinning planets and an expanding universe, all bound together by the elastic string of time. It is advisable to look from the tide pool to the stars and then back to the tide pool again."

-John Steinbeck, The Log from the Sea of Cortez

## Dedications

The following thesis is dedicated to two individuals who, in their own ways, have shaped and molded my spirit and without them this thesis would have likely never been.

My thesis, in part, is dedicated in loving memory to my grandmother, Carolyn Anderson, who passed on before the completion of my work. Carolyn was one of the most loving people in my life. If wealth was measured in generosity, selflessness, love and compassion my grandmother was one of the richest people in existence. Her love enriched me in many ways and from those riches, this thesis was a product.

The other part of this thesis is dedicated to my dearest friend, Dr. Jo Campe. Several years ago, I met Jo at a coffee shop in Ely, Minnesota, where we discussed our mutual love for duck hunting and wilderness canoe trips. Unbeknownst to me he was the first person, that I am aware of, who accurately and honestly assessed me. What he found was someone who severely underestimated their own capabilities. From that time on, Jo has mentored me and through his love, patience, joy, and wisdom I have gained an accurate perception of myself. As you read through this thesis, behind each page, paragraph, sentence, and figure there was uncertainty, tribulation, and above all doubt. If it wasn't for Jo, I would have never had the confidence to persevere. I'm unsure where I would be without Dr. Jo Campe's intervention but, certainly my life would not be so happy, joyous, and free nor would I have felt worthy enough to pursue my dream to live in Saskatchewan and study wildlife.

## **Table of Contents**

| Permission to Use  | i  |
|--|----|
| Disclaimer   | i  |
| Abstract   | ii |
| Acknowledgements   | iv |
| List of Tables   | ix |
| List of Figures  | xi |
| 1. Introduction  | 12 |
| 1.1. Ecology of Wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region                   | 12 |
| 1.1.1. Historic Large-Scale Alterations of the PPR                       |    |
| 1.1.2. General Ecology of Wetlands in the PPR                            |    |
| 1.2. Threats to Wetlands of the PPR                                      | 14 |
| 1.3. Waterfowl Population Dynamics in the PPR                            | 16 |
| 1.3.1. General Ecology of Waterfowl in the PPR                           |    |
| 1.3.2. Waterfowl Population Trends in the PPR                            |    |
| 1.4. Impacts of Intensive Agricultural Practices on Waterfowl in the PPR | 19 |
| 1.5. Ducklings as Biological Indicators of Wetland Health                |    |
| 1.6. Study Objectives  |    |
| 2. General Methodology   |    |
| 2.1. Study Sites   | 22 |
| 2.2. Duckling Surveys  |    |
| 2.3. Aquatic Macroinvertebrate Sampling                                  |    |
| 2.4. Wetland Assessment  |    |
| 2.5. Water Quality Sampling and Analysis                                 |    |
| 2.6. Data Analyses   |    |
| 3. Results   |    |
| 3.1. Duckling Community Composition                                      |    |
| 3.2. Effects of Water Quality on Dabbling Duck Duckling Abundance        |    |
| 3.3. Effects of Habitat on Dabbling Duck Duckling Abundance              |    |

| 3.4.     | Effects of Macroinvertebrate Prey Availability on Dabbling Duck D<br>31 | uckling Abundance |
|----------|---|-------------------|
| 3.5.     | Comparative Analysis of Multiple Explanatory Models                     |                   |
| 4. Di    | scussion  |                   |
| 4.1.     | Primary Findings  |                   |
| 4.2.     | Implications of Findings  |                   |
| 4.3.     | Limitations and Future Directions                                       |                   |
| Tables   |   |                   |
| Figures  | 5   |                   |
| Literati | ure Cited   |                   |
|          |   |                   |

## **List of Tables**

Table 1.Summary of habitat variables collected at each study wetland (n=58) in the 6 survey transect sites. The mean and standard deviation of habitat variables including cropland percentage, grassland percentage, roadway disturbance, percentage of adjacent wetland, percentage of wooded area, percentage of algae cover, percentage of aquatic vegetation cover, percentage of bare wetland bottom, maximum water depth, wetland basin fill, distance of wetland vegetation degradation. The area of sampling is the prairie region of Saskatchewan Table 2. A summary of dabbler duckling brood counts collected in the June - August 2018 and 2019 in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Values represent a mean (±SD) of counts from four survey periods at each transect site (n=6). Included are mean and max counts of ducklings by individual species and all species combined (mallard, gadwall, green-winged teal, blue-winged teal, northern shoveler, northern pintail, redhead, canvasback, scaup, ring-necked duck, **Table 3.** Summary of water quality parameters collected at each wetland (n=58) across the 6 transect sites. Water parameters include mean  $\pm$  SD values by transect for conductivity and pH, the number of insecticides detected, mean concentration of insecticides, and Acute Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI) calculated for each wetland in Saskatchewan during June or July of 2018 Table 4. Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC<sub>c</sub>) and model weight  $(W_i)$  for each candidate models to explain variation of duckling abundance in relation to pH, conductivity, and Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI). Water parameter and duckling data were collected during June or July 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Also shown are number of model parameters (k) and log-likelihood value Table 5. Model averaged parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) explaining variation of dabbler duckling abundance. Parameters included pH, conductivity and acute Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI). Water quality and duckling count data were collected in June or July of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Parameters with Table 6. Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC<sub>c</sub>) and model weight  $(W_i)$  for each candidate models to explain variation of duckling abundance in relation to maximum water depth, aquatic vegetation density, grassland percentage, and distance of wetland vegetation degradation. Wetland characteristic variables and duckling data were collected during August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Also shown Table 7. Model averaged parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) explaining variation of dabbler duckling abundance. Three variables were important in the top model: floating aquatic vegetation density, maximum water depth and percentage of grassland. Water parameters and duckling count data were collected during the August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Parameters with significant effects are 

| <b>Table 8.</b> Summary, including mean $\pm$ SD, of aquatic macroinvertebrate samples collected at each |
|--|
| study wetland (n=58) across the 6 transect sites in Saskatchewan. Macroinvertebrate samples              |
| were collected once during the August 2018 and 2019 49   |
| <b>Table 9.</b> Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes and model weights for    |
| the top candidate model and null model explaining variation in dabbler duckling abundance. The           |
| only parameter retained was aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance (log). Aquatic                           |
| macroinvertebrates and duckling data were collected during August 2018 and 2019 at wetlands              |
|  |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |
| (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan   |

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Map showing the 6 sampling sites in southern Saskatchewan where collection of duckling brood surveys, wetland water quality, aquatic macroinvertebrates, and wetland and Figure 2. Mean dabbling duckling brood counts across four observational periods during surveys of wetlands (n=58) in the June - August 2018 and 2019 in Saskatchewan. Ducklings have been Figure 3. Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model for dabbling duck duckling abundance in relation to pH and conductivity. The model-predicted duckling abundance (solid line) is shown with the 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines). Water chemistry and duckling data were collected during the June - August 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) found in the prairie region Figure 4. PCA biplot of wetland and surrounding habitat variables (floating veg. encroachment, density of wooded plants, roadway displacement, max. water depth, percentage of bare bottom, cropland percentage, distance of wetland vegetation disturbance, percentage of algae, percentage of grassland) highlighted in blue. Habitat data were collected during June - August of 2018 and Figure 5. Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model on dabbler duckling abundance in relation to wetland habitat variables (maximum water depth, aquatic vegetation density, and surrounding grassland). The predicted model is symbolized as a solid line while the 95% confidence intervals are dashed lines. Habitat variables and duckling data were collected during June - August of Figure 6. Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model on dabbler duckling abundance in relation to aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance. The predicted model is symbolized as a solid line while the 95% confidence intervals are dashed lines. aquatic macroinvertebrates and duckling data was collected during June - August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of 

## 1. Introduction

## **1.1.** Ecology of Wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region

The North American Prairie Pothole Region (PPR) is one of the richest, most diverse and unique ecosystems in the world (Montgomery et al., 2021). It crosses the United States/Canada border and contributes land in 5 states (Iowa, Minnesota, the Dakotas and Montana) along with 3 Provinces (Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta), encompassing more than 770,000 km<sup>2</sup> of land (Doherty et al., 2018). The PPR is characterized by its mixture of grassland and wetlands that are commonly referred to as "prairie potholes". There is a large variation within the region of separate ecosystems that are largely defined by average annual precipitation (Smart et al., 2021). Extreme annual temperature fluctuations, drought-deluge cycles and frequent natural disturbances challenge the region's organisms to be highly adaptable (Neff & Rosenberry, 2018; Dixon et al., 2019; Mcintyre et al., 2019). Extensive alterations by agricultural practices have dramatically changed the historical condition of the PPR and recent studies have shown that this may be limiting or reducing populations of many different species (Buderman et al., 2020; Smart et al., 2021).

#### 1.1.1. Historic Large-Scale Alterations of the PPR

Natural disturbances such as those created by, for example, wildfires and bison have shaped and changed the PPR since the last ice age and are an integral part of the ecosystem (Pindilli, 2021). Starting in 1830, the settlement of European migrants began widespread manmade change; converting grassland to crop production (Andersen et al., 1996). Agricultural practices have evolved in many ways especially with advancement in farming technologies; however, a general theme of landscape simplification has been common throughout the history of agricultural practices in North America. Landscape simplification is defined by Ricci et al. (2019) as landscape-scale intensification accounting for increases in the area of cropland, decreases in semi-natural habitats and reductions in the length of interfaces between crops and semi-natural habitat. Common modern agricultural practices which produce landscape simplification in the PPR include wetland drainage, shelterbelt and other vegetation removal,

mechanical tillage, monocropping, and a heavy reliance on pesticide and fertilizer applications (Schilling & Dinsmore, 2018; Malaj et al., 2020; Ballard et al., 2021).

The scale of alterations by agricultural practices in the PPR is immense. It is estimated that upwards of 75 - 99% of grassland has been altered by agricultural practices and 50 – 99% of all wetlands have been drained (Schilling & Dinsmore, 2018; Mckenna et al., 2019). There is spatial variation in broadscale intensity of agricultural practices in the PPR. Generally the southern portion has the highest amount of landscape simplification; a recent study found that 95 - 99% of wetlands had been drained in Iowa and similar estimates reported from Minnesota (Johnson et al., 2008; Schilling et al., 2019). In comparison, the northern extent of the PPR has lower estimates of wetland drainage; for instance, southern Manitoba is estimated to have 76% of its wetland area altered by drainage (Badiou et al., 2018). This estimate coincides with the approximate median wetland loss of 70% across the Canada portion of the PPR (Pattison-Williams et al., 2018). Despite growing evidence of negative impacts from drainage and subsequent legislation discouraging this practice, the remaining wetlands are drained decennially at an estimated rate upwards of 4% (Minnes et al., 2020). Agricultural practices continue to intensify in the PPR; ultimately, converting a highly biologically diverse region to a simplified landscape of food production for human consumption.

## 1.1.2. General Ecology of Wetlands in the PPR

Wetland classification systems tend to vary by region however, the basis of the most wetland assessments derives from Stewart and Kantrud (1971) and (Cowardin, 1979). Both systems use vegetation to define zonation and wetland boundaries. Duration of saturation of soils changes biochemical properties and defines soil suitability to certain plant species; hence, the presence of hydrophilic vegetation can allow quick wetland assessments (Moor et al., 2017). Wetlands are divided into 5 different classes based on duration of soil saturation throughout the growing season (Montgomery et al., 2018). Class 1 wetlands are highly ephemeral, typically only retaining standing water for a few weeks after snowmelt. Subsequent classes are have increasingly longer durations of surface soil saturation while class 5 wetlands are defined as permanent bodies of water (Montgomery et al., 2018). Classes 1 – 3 are highly variable, maximum water depths and duration of ponded water can vary dramatically in a growing season dependent on seasonal conditions (Montgomery et al., 2018). To minimize spatial variability I

focused on class 4 and 5 (semi-permanent and permanent) wetlands for this project (Mclean et al., 2020).

In general, wetlands in the PPR are defined as marsh and open water wetlands under the Stewart and Kantrud and Cowardin classification system (Stewart & Kantrud, 1971; Cowardin, 1979). The majority of the wetlands are ephemeral and have a maximum water depth of <1 m (Montgomery et al., 2018). Maximum water depth of wetlands can fluctuate dramatically within a growing season; largely, based on climate conditions like ambient temperatures and precipitation (Van Der Valk, 2005). During dry periods the reduction of water exposes mudflats and alkaline soil. The reduction in water level also cause submerged wetland to float on the water's surface (Moor et al., 2017). In nutrient rich wetlands floating vegetation can become matted and limit the amount of exposed open water (Vanausdall & Dinsmore, 2020). Wetland vegetation in the PPR is adapted to the cyclical water level fluctuations, hydrophobic vegetation will recede with reduction in water levels; conversely, reestablishment of hydrophilic vegetation occurs with prolonged periods of soil saturation (Bolding, 2018; Montgomery et al., 2018).

## **1.2.** Threats to Wetlands of the PPR

Common agricultural practices including tilling hydric soils, removing hydrophilic vegetation, and chemical pollution have adversely impacted wetlands. These practices are changing historical dynamics and areas suitable for the biotic life that depends on wetlands. Along with loss of 50-99% of wetlands across the PPR by means of drainage there is also an increase of degradation of buffer zones between farm fields and wetlands (Gleason et al., 2011). Buffer zones are vegetated areas adjacent to wetlands that provide ecological services such as reduction of contaminants that enter water (Rickerl et al., 2000). As a result of loss of buffer zones, wetlands are increasingly more vulnerable to contamination from agricultural inputs. Moreover, since 1971 the use of agrochemicals increased by an estimated 500% across the Canadian PPR (Goldsborough & Crumpton, 1998). Currently, there is no systematic water quality monitoring system in place and therefore the extent of influence chemical contamination of wetlands across this agriculturally dominated region is largely unknown (Main et al., 2014; Malaj et al., 2020).

One group of chemicals that has gained attention in recent years are neonicotinoids, an insecticide class that is prized for its versatility in ways of application as a plant systemic and seed treatment, which is effective against a wide array of invertebrate pests and has greater acute toxicity to invertebrates over vertebrates (Elbert et al., 2008). The most commonly used neonicotinoids in Canada and the US are thiamethoxam, clothianidin, and imidacloprid. These highly effective insecticides are systemic and persist in the plant tissue (Main et al., 2017). After their introduction they rapidly grew in popularity across North America. However, alarming discoveries were made about their effects of non-target species (Whitehorn et al., 2012; Goulson, 2013; Hallmann et al., 2014) and for their ability to persist in soils (e.g., thiamethoxam  $DT_{50}$ =avg. 229 days; clothianidin  $DT_{50}$ =148–1,155 days) and high water solubility (e.g., thiamethoxam =4,100 mg/L; clothianidin =327 mg/L) (Main et al., 2014). Application of neonicotinoids is often in the form of seed coating or foliar spray (Main et al., 2017). Seed treatments are often applied to canola and a variety of grains which are also the dominant crops of the northern PPR (Rashford et al., 2011).

In 2007, a new class of insecticide was introduced to the market, phthalic and anthranilic acid diamides (i.e. flubeniamide, chlorantraniliprole, and cyantraniliprole) (Hasan et al., 2020). Diamides have the potential to replace neonicotinoids as they are also systemic seed treatments reported to have broad spectrum insecticidal activity (Ebbinghaus-Kintscher et al., 2006). Little is known about the effects of diamides on the environment but they have potential to harm aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems (Ma et al., 2022). The harmful effects of diamides are due to a growing popularity in the insecticide market, ranking third worldwide, and the insecticide is acutely toxic to non-target invertebrates and has detrimental sublethal impacts (Kadala et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2022). Other proposed replacements for neonicotinoids include other plant systemics used as seed treatments: flupyradifurone (butenolide insecticide), sulfoxaflor (sulfoximine insecticide), and flonicamid (pyridinecarboxamide) (Haas et al., 2021; Ullah et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2021). A study on the sublethal effects of flonicamid conducted by Ghelichpour and Mirghaed (2019) found that exposure resulted in an increase in stress and altered gill function in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Siviter et al. (2018) reported that sulfoxaflor reduced reproductive success bumblebee (Bombus terrestris). A study by Bartlett et al. (2018) found flupyradifurone had lethal and sublethal effects on mayfly larvae (Hexagenia spp.).

The PPR is one of the world's most productive biomes, largely due to its vast area of wetland complexes. In a highly altered landscape, with large scale monocultures, wetlands are often the only remaining unaltered ecosystem (Tews et al., 2004), in-turn providing critical habitat for many PPR species and migratory birds. Given the importance of wetlands in the region, and the potential threats presented, there is an ongoing need to determine reliable and sensitive indicators of wetland condition.

### **1.3.**Waterfowl Population Dynamics in the PPR

## 1.3.1. General Ecology of Waterfowl in the PPR

The PPR provides critical breeding habitat for 14 waterfowl species including mallard (*Anas platyrhynchos*), blue-winged teal (*Spatula discors*), green-winged teal (*Anas carolinensis*), American wigeon (*Mareca americana*), gadwall (*Mareca strepera*), northern shoveler (*Spatula clypeata*), northern pintail (*Anas acuta*, hereafter pintail), greater scaup (*Aythya marila*) and lesser scaup (*Aythya affinis*, hereafter greater and lesser scaup will be referred to as scaup), redhead (*Aythya americana*), canvasback (*Aythya valisineria*), bufflehead (*Bucephala albeola*), ruddy duck (*Oxyura jamaicensis*), and Canada goose (*Branta canadensis*) (Sorenson et al., 1998). The PPR also provides stop-over habitat for arctic-nesting waterfowl species such as greater white-fronted goose (*Anser albifrons*), snow goose (*Chen caerulescens*), Ross goose (*Chen rossii*), tundra swan (*Cygnus columbianus*) along with taiga nesting waterfowl like: ringnecked duck (*Aythya collaris*), common goldeneye (*Bucephala clangula*), trumpeter swan (*Cygnus buccinator*) (Fredrickson & Reid, 1988). It is estimated that 50 – 80% of the breeding production of ducks in North America occurs in the PPR, while comparatively, this region only makes up 10% of total breeding habitat; earning the reputation as North America's "duck factory" (Klett et al., 1988; Higgins et al., 2002; Niemuth & Solberg, 2003).

The wetland complexes of the PPR offer ideal resources for waterfowl to refuel during migrations and during the breeding season (Johnston & Mcintyre, 2019). Waterfowl have evolved with adaptations to exploit shallow water habitats such as: webbed feet, bill shape and lamellae, relatively high bone density and elongated neck (Pöysä, 1983; Pöysä et al., 1994; Isola et al., 2000). Ducks are split into two guilds based on feeding behavior, dabblers and divers (De Mendoza & Gómez, 2022). Dabblers include species like mallard, pintail, gadwall, etc.; which

have evolved to dip the front of their body below the water's surface to forage on aquatic vegetation and macroinvertebrates; while divers, as the name suggests, dive below the water's surface, being able to reach to greater depths to forage (Rylander, 2021). Divers, which include species like common goldeneye, redhead, and bufflehead have specialized body features like high bone density and hips that are further back on the body to help the bird to be agile below the water's surface; however, divers are highly limited when traversing terrestrial terrain (Stephenson, 1993). A limited ability to forage terrestrially, may make diver ducks more dependent on wetlands; thus, theoretically more sensitive to agricultural impacts.

A generalized summary across all waterfowl species commonly found in the PPR is that an increase in protein consumption (i.e. aquatic invertebrates) begins during the spring migration and peaks during the breeding season; diet transitions to a largely herbivorous diet (seeds and various plant matter) later in the breeding season and throughout the non-breeding period (Stafford et al., 2014; Stafford et al., 2016). Dietary preferences during the breeding season vary by species ranging from more herbivorous species like gadwall (Ankney & Alisauskas, 1991) or canvasback (Bartonek & Hickey, 1969) to carnivorous species like scaup (Afton & Hier, 1991) or northern shoveler (Ankney & Afton, 1988). Relative to other avian species, waterfowl lay large and nutrient rich eggs that are produced at a high caloric cost often leaving hens with a protein and lipid deficit. Moreover, migration to the breeding grounds in the PPR often reduces the majority of the fat reserves before nesting and later egg laying may occur as a result (Yarrow, 2009; Stafford et al., 2016). Therefore, it is critical that breeding waterfowl have access to an ample abundance of macroinvertebrates on arrival in the PPR (Stafford et al., 2016). Energetic demands remain high throughout the breeding season to support growth of precocial young that begin feeding on aquatic macroinvertebrates typically within 24 hours of hatching (Sedinger, 1992). The distribution and abundance of aquatic macroinvertebrates can influence habitat use, behavior, and growth rates of broods and, thus, is commonly the focus of wetland management strategies in the PPR (Krull, 1970; Hanson & Butler, 1994; Sheehan et al., 2020).

#### **1.3.2.** Waterfowl Population Trends in the PPR

Several waterfowl species recovered from the brink of extinction in the early 1900s to meeting or exceeding population goals (Johnson et al., 2010; Roberts et al., 2018). Largely due to extensive management techniques including hunting regulations (harvest limit and methods, etc.) (Nichols et al., 2007), habitat conservation (Rashford et al., 2011) and further research; has in-effect, increased population levels (Johnson & Case, 2000). The survey known as the Waterfowl Breeding Population and Habitat Survey (WBPHS) is the largest collective waterfowl survey in North America and probably the largest wildlife survey in the world (Lewis et al., 2016). The WBPHS encompasses the PPR, expanding across the northern portion of North America covering more than 5.18 million km<sup>2</sup> (Boere et al., 2006). Conducted during each spring by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and Canadian Wildlife Service (CWS), the survey has been orchestrated annually since 1955 (Service, 2012). The overarching objective of this survey is to estimate population size of waterfowl in North America; in-part, to guide migratory game bird hunting regulations of the corresponding year (Fish & Service, 2019).

A recent paper by Rosenberg et al. (2019) on avian population declines across North America used data collected during the WBPHS since 1970. This team estimated that North America has lost 3 billion birds since 1970 or 29% of total abundance. Researchers estimated that waterfowl are the only taxonomic avian order found in North America that had increased since 1970. While this finding is striking, the results may be misleading based on the temporal scale of the analysis. When the WBPHS started it was during a time waterfowl populations were at alarmingly low levels (Brasher et al., 2019). Since that time, conservation efforts like regulated hunting, migratory bird reserves, habitat improvements, etc. have been implemented and have drastically improved waterfowl numbers (Williams et al., 1999). Also, grouping all waterfowl species together is likely enhancing population trends because some waterfowl species, particularly granivorous species, like snow or Ross geese, are exceeding carrying capacity in some flyways (Dooley & Brook, 2018; Sears & Miller, 2018). This is largely attributed to the geese having ample supply to high caloric food resources (i.e. grain spillage during harvest) during migration (Sears & Miller, 2018). Duck population trends are less abundant in comparison to some goose species. Based on the latest published results of the WBPHS titled '*Waterfowl Population Status, 2019*' on average, duck population levels in the PPR have increased marginally since 1955 (+10%; p-value <0.001).

On average, waterfowl populations in the PPR have improved and stabilized since 1955, especially in comparison to other avian species that breed in the PPR like obligate grassland birds (Li et al., 2020) or aerial insectivores (Tallamy & Shriver, 2021). However, it is well established that waterfowl population trends closely follow habitat quantity and quality (Lamb et al., 2018; Schrempp et al., 2019). For example, duck population trends are highly correlated with water availability (Sedinger et al., 2019). As discussed above, wetlands of the PPR have been drained or degraded since European establishment in the PPR (Schilling & Dinsmore, 2018); moreover, recent studies predict that global warming may increase wetland loss through evaporation (Chen et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2021). Potentially, waterfowl populations may decrease with further wetland loss. Hence, the retention of intact wetlands is critical; furthermore, there is a need for knowledge on how the quality of the remaining wetlands may influence waterfowl along with other wildlife species that are dependent on wetlands of the PPR.

## **1.4.** Impacts of Intensive Agricultural Practices on Waterfowl in the PPR

The PPR is estimated to be the most productive breeding area for waterfowl but also the most heavily impacted by agricultural practices in North America (Brasher et al., 2019). Modern agricultural practices often rely on intensive methods to produce high yields of crops, which manipulates, degrades and changes historic conditions of the PPR (Henry et al., 2020). The expansive change to the region since mechanization has drastically shifted historically productive grassland-wetland complexes; which in-turn, continue to impact breeding waterfowl (Williams & Sweetman, 2019). Agricultural practices such as wetland drainage, tillage, pesticide application, etc. adversely impact waterfowl by reducing the quality and quantity of available habitat. Ultimately, changes in wetland health can affect waterfowl directly or indirectly, during a nutrient-demanding stage of the waterfowl annual life cycle (Doherty et al., 2018; Aagaard et al., 2022). In the scope of this project, I define a direct impact on waterfowl as an external action that directly influences waterfowl survival and reproduction; conversely, an indirect impact is an

external action that influences organisms that waterfowl rely upon (i.e. aquatic macroinvertebrate).

## 1.5. Ducklings as Biological Indicators of Wetland Health

A biological indicator or bioindicator is defined as a species that respond predictably to environmental change which is representative of other taxa present in the environment (Quigley et al., 2019). Waterfowl ducklings meet the criteria defined by Quigley et al. (2019) for both of these bioindicator types. The use of bioindicators aids in reducing the complexity of environmental change down to empirically derived units of information which can influence conservation efforts (Heink & Kowarik, 2010). In this context, I hypothesize that duckling abundance, can be a useful proxy of wetland health reflecting the often-cryptic influence of agricultural practices that may degrade wetland health.

Nest site selection of waterfowl is highly complex and influenced by broad factors like habitat availability or more localized features like competition, food availability, vegetation structure; furthermore, there is variation amongst species and individuals (Lokemoen et al., 1984). While factors like limited habitat availability can influence hens to select wetlands or areas that may not be as suitable for rearing young; hence, brood success, defined here as at least one young reaching to the full fledge stage, may be low (Buderman et al., 2020). The presence of a nesting pair may have a limited ability of detecting wetland health as the wetland may be perceived by the nesting pair as a suitable nesting area; however, limited resources may reduce the likelihood of rearing success (Ratti & Reese, 1988). Moreover, a nesting pair is highly mobile and the presence of a pair at a single wetland may be distant to the location of the nest (Brewster et al., 1976). The presence and continued observation over the rearing season of precocial young may be a strong indicator of wetland health because the wetland demonstrates the capacity of the habitat to support duckling production and sustain young through the rearing season (Dzus & Clark, 1997). Therefore, I investigated what wetland characteristics influence duckling abundance; with the goal to investigate if duckling abundance can be used as biological indicators of wetland health.

## 1.6. Study Objectives

The complex interactions in the PPR between the remaining natural ecosystems and agricultural practices present challenges for wildlife populations that are important to assess. A biological indicator may aid in effectively determining the health and condition of wetlands in the PPR to support biodiversity. Although research has been done on aquatic macroinvertebrate communities as biological indicators of various water body conditions, there are a few critical logistical constraints that limit their usefulness for wetland ecosystems. For example, sorting and identification protocols are commonly time consuming; especially, in eutrophic water bodies like wetlands. Precocial ducklings are highly dependent on a variety of aquatic macroinvertebrates throughout the rearing season and their diets vary by species and life stage. Therefore, it is likely that duckling abundance could be an index of wetland health, allowing easy interpretation of the numerous direct and indirect effects of agricultural practices. Merely determining a relationship between ducklings and aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance may be insufficient at indicating wetland health. Other potential factors which reflect wetland health such as the presence or concentrations of pesticides in water, vegetation composition and surrounding land use in combination with invertebrate communities provide a set of powerful tools to assess wetland condition. To my knowledge, an assessment of duckling abundance as a biological indicator of wetland health has not been completed. The overarching goals of my research were to provide an improved understanding of wetland-specific factors that could affect wetland use by broodrearing female ducks and to evaluate the possible use of dabbler duckling abundance as a biological indictor of wetland health in the PPR. I hypothesized that duckling abundance is an effective biological indicator of wetland health such that counts of ducklings would be related to wetland characteristics (e.g. macroinvertebrates, water quality, etc.). More specifically, I predicted that wetlands surrounded by more agro-intense cropping (e.g. increased insecticide pollution, vegetation disturbance, etc.) will have fewer ducklings than wetlands from less impacted sites.

My four main study objectives were to:

I. Estimate dabbler duckling abundance on Saskatchewan wetlands that vary in agricultural intensity.

- II. Determine which wetland habitat features are related to duckling abundance.
- III. Evaluate the relationship between duckling abundance and aquatic macroinvertebrate prey abundance and biomass; and,
- IV. Determine the relationship between duckling abundance and water quality metrics (physiochemical and insecticide pollution).

## 2. General Methodology

## 2.1.Study Sites

Selection of study sites for my surveys was determined from evaluation of three criteria: surrounding land use, wetland density and standing water availability. This approach allowed me to capture a large range of conditions that may influence waterfowl across the prairie portion of Saskatchewan. In the context of this project, my study sites were transects defined by a preexisting road - commonly referred to as a "grid road". Typically, in the prairie portion of Saskatchewan these roads rarely deviate from a straight East to West or North to South direction and are set every 1.6 km (1 mile) longitudinally and every 3.2 km latitudinally. The length of the transects in this study varied by location and averaged 16 km. To narrow site selection across southern Saskatchewan I selected from transects used in the WBPHS conducted annually by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and Canadian Wildlife Service (CWS). A detailed review and description of methodology of the WBPHS can be found in (Smith, 1995). To minimize spatial variability I focused on class 4 (semi-permanent) and 5 (permanent) wetlands (Mclean et al., 2020). There were 6 transect sites with roughly 10 wetlands per transect (n = 58 wetlands total), located within 250 km from Saskatoon (n = 3 in 2018, n = 3 in 2019): 2018 [ Ibstone (52°34'52.9"N 108°23'57.9"W), Tichfield ( 51°14'32.5"N 107°12'29.5"W ), Peterson (52°08'37.4"N 105°17'21.8"W)]; and, 2019 [Buchanan (51°42'27.1"N 102°55'07.9"W), Grayson (50°43'30.0"N 102°40'50.4"W), and Zealandia (51°38'59.9"N 107°21'13.2"W).] All sites were selected based on similar density of wetlands and water levels, and presence of waterfowl but with variation in agricultural intensity that was hypothesized to affect water and habitat quality. Wetlands were separated by 500 m to 2 km, within view of the road, and chosen to allow an observer to view the majority of the open water area from the roadside. For example,

an ideal wetland would have minimal trees or shrubs and be large enough to hold water throughout the survey periods but be appropriately sized so the observer could view the entire wetland from a stationary position. At each wetland from 6 transects, I conducted repeated duckling surveys, water sampling, macroinvertebrate collections, and a wetland habitat assessment (Figure 1).

## **2.2.** Duckling Surveys

Duckling surveys were conducted over four different observational periods to count waterfowl ducklings including 16 different waterfowl species, the majority of which are commonly found in the region including: mallard (Anas platyrhynchos), northern pintail (Anas acuta), northern shoveler (Spatula clypeata), gadwall (Mareca strepera), blue-winged teal (Anas discors), green-winged teal (Anas carolinensis), American wigeon (Mareca americana), redhead (Aythya americana), canvasback (Aythya valisineria), scaup (Aythya), bufflehead (Bucephala albeola), ruddy duck (Oxyura jamaicensis), and Canada goose (Branta canadensis). Also included was species that are less commonly found in the region: scoter (Melanitta), goldeneye (Bucephala), and cinnamon teal (Anas cyanoptera). Other waterbird young were included in the survey such as coots (Fulica), various grebes (Podicipedidae) and mergansers (Mergus). The rounds were separated by 14 day intervals beginning in June and lasting until late August to capture the full production phenology of multiple species (Rumble & Flake, 1982; Johns, 2019). Round 1-3 start time was 05:00 and Round 4 started at 05:30. Round 1 and 3 were surveyed from east to west on transect, and Round 2 and 4 was west to east. Each round had two survey periods. The second period began immediately after the first. It took approximately 2 hours to survey all wetlands on the transect. Survey weather conditions needed to be favorable with winds under 25 km/h, no precipitation, and visibility greater than 100 m. The data recorded during the survey included: start time, ambient temperature, wind speed, wind direction, precipitation, water level, cloud cover, species, counts and age class. Surveys are conducted in a passive approach, using a 4-wheel drive vehicle as a blind. At each wetland, I set up a spotting scope or binoculars and record the survey window of 6 minutes with a stopwatch. The survey team consisted of an observer, who is experienced in waterfowl identification paired with an experienced transcriber.

All ducklings were counted during the 6-minute interval. Data included species, number of ducklings within the brood, and age class. A second observation period began immediately after the first concluded and followed the same protocol. This was done to correct for observational error which commonly occurs during brood surveys do to a hen's cryptic behavior (Carrlson et al., 2018). A second observation is commonly used during waterfowl surveys to account for missed observations (Harms, 2021; Roy et al., 2021). The highest of the 2 repeated counts done on the same day was used.

#### **2.3.** Aquatic Macroinvertebrate Sampling

Sampling procedures were conducted once at each of the study wetlands (n=58 on 6 transects) following the Canadian Aquatic Biomonitoring Network Wetland Macroinvertebrates Protocol (CABIN; http://www.ec.gc.ca/rcba-cabin/). The CABIN protocol was developed by Environment and Climate Change Canada to assess the condition of aquatic ecosystems across Canada (Reynoldson et al., 2003). Determination of wetland condition is based on aquatic invertebrate population abundance and diversity. Sampling was timed to correspond with the peak of the growing season (mid-June through July). Requirements for sampling included: two crew members, a sampling net with 400-µm mesh size, stopwatch, waders, sample jars and preservative (70% ethanol). Sampling for aquatic macroinvertebrates involved moving the net through and around the wetland submerged or semi-submerged vegetation for 2 minutes to collect a diverse range of taxa. One member of the crew used the sampling net, while the other member keeps track of sampling time. Collected samples were stored in 1 L containers and stored in 70% ethanol. Samples were kept in a refrigerator, until the time of sorting. During sorting samples had the vegetation removed, and invertebrates were sorted and identified to taxonomic Order using guidelines found in the CABIN macroinvertebrate protocol (Reynoldson et al., 2003) and later counted. The samples collected in 2018 were counted to entirety while 2019 samples were subsampled using a Marchant Box and total abundance was then estimated by multiplier.

Macroinvertebrate samples were prepared before being placed in the Marchant Box by being placed in a 5-gallon bucket filled with water and gently agitated to separate macroinvertebrates from debris and vegetation which were removed from the sample. Samples were then poured

through a 400-µm mesh sieve to remove fine sediment from the sample. Rinsed samples were transferred into a 100-cell Marchant box along with enough water to fill all Marchant box cells. The Marchant box was agitated until the macroinvertebrate sample was evenly distributed across all cells. A random number generator was then used to select multiple cells from the 10 x 10 grid of 100 Marchant box cells. All invertebrates from the selected cell were sorted into vials containing 70% ethanol by order and tallied. Cells were randomly selected, and subsamples sorted until two criteria were reached: 1) a minimum of 5 cells were sampled and 2) a minimum of 300 insect macroinvertebrates had been tallied. A sample estimate was derived from dividing the total number of macroinvertebrates in the subsample by the total number of used cells then multiplied by 100. To examine the level of estimate accuracy, 5 of the samples were randomly selected after subsampling and the entirety of the sample was sorted and counted. Dividing the Marchant Box subsampling estimate to the total count indicated an average of 87% accuracy for the estimate. When all samples were sorted and counted, macroinvertebrates were dried for 48 hours in a drying oven at 60°C and weighed to record biomass.

## 2.4. Wetland Assessment

The protocol to assess the study wetlands was a slightly modified version of Rapid Wetland Assessment Criteria that include both quantitative and qualitative parameters (Main et al., 2015). At each wetland, measurements of 13 predictor variables were collected (see Table 1 for a full list of variables measured). Water depth was measured in approximately the deepest area of the wetland, typically in the central portion of the pond. I estimated percentages of broad characteristics such as surrounding cropland or wooded area based on field observation. The percentage of floating vegetation was estimated by recording visible vegetation that was floating on the water, which typically intertwined with adjacent plants and formed mats or vegetation that has floating leaves that obstruct the surface of the water. Percentage of bare substrate was estimated by the amount of exposed sediment lack of submerged aquatic vegetation. Basin fill was a field-based observation estimating the level of water relative to the approximate maximum capacity of the wetland basin. Determining factors that influenced this estimate include surrounding land topography, time of year, wetland vegetation zones and seasonal climate conditions. The distance of degraded wetland vegetation was determined by selecting four cardinal points around the wetland measuring the distance from the outermost point where

hydrophilic vegetation was present but, altered more than 25% of the natural condition by agricultural practices (e.g. cropped plants, tillage, herbicide spray or haying) to the boundary where hydrophilic vegetation is still intact. For example, the outermost wetland boundary may have been determined by the presence of horsetail (*Equisetum*) in a canola dominated area, from that boundary a measurement was taken towards the open water area to the edge of cattails (*Typha*) which were mostly unaltered. In between these two boundaries the measurement of vegetation degradation was derived. This method was repeated for the remaining transects around the wetland and then the 4 transects around the wetland were averaged to produce a single variable.

## **2.5.** Water Quality Sampling and Analysis

Levels of insecticide pollution in water were assessed through analysis of neonicotinoid and diamide insecticides (Jeanguenat, 2013; Main et al., 2017). Water sampling was conducted once a year after seed germination (late June or early July). Water was collected with one chemically-cleaned (acetone: hexane washed) 1 L amber glass bottle used to collect a subsurface sample (10-15 cm)(Main et al., 2017). Collected samples are stored and chilled in the field aided by coolers filled with ice. Samples were stored at 4°C until ready for analysis. The samples were analyzed for neonicotinoids and replacements at the Environment and Climate Change Canada National Hydrology lab in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Water sample analyses for other pesticides, herbicides, fungicides, and nutrients was considered however, due to logistical constraints were not included in my study. Lastly, I collected basic water quality data [dissolved oxygen (mg/L), conductivity (µS/cm), pH and temperature] with the use of a handheld water quality meter (YSI ProPlus multimeter).

Water samples were extracted for insecticide analysis by passing 500ml through Oasis HLB cartridges which were conditioned with methanol (10 mL) and water (10 mL). Once sample loading was complete, the cartridges were then washed with de-ionized water (5 mL) and dried under vacuum for 5 minutes. The mixture was eluted with methanol (10 mL), then evaporated to dryness and the extract residues reconstituted in 500 mL of water followed by addition of internal standards. Analysis of samples was carried out by Liquid Chromatography

with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS-MS). A Waters 2695 Alliance HPLC system consisting of a solvent degassing unit, pump and autosampler was used with a Waters Xterra MS-C8 (3.5 mm dia. particle size) column (2.1-6100-mm) at 30uC. A uniform elution of the analytes was accomplished with an 80/20 mix of solvent A (99.9% water and 0.1% formic acid) and solvent B (89.9% acetonitrile, 10% water and 0.1% formic acid). The injection volume was 20 mL with a run time of 10 minutes. Quantification of insecticides were done using an internal standard method then presence was confirmed using the Micromass Quattro Premier triple quadrupole mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionization interface set to positive ion mode. To optimize ionization and MS-MS by infusing a 0.5 mg/L solution of each insecticide into an ion source in a 50:50 (v/v) acetonitrile water solution with a syringe pump. A four-level calibration curve (5 to 50 mg) was analyzed before and after each batch of 10 samples which also contained a laboratory blank and a fortified sample. Limits of quantification (LOQ) in water were as follows: imidacloprid, 0.0010 µg/L; thiamethoxam, 0.0013 µg/L; clothianidin, 0.0011  $\mu$ g/L; acetamiprid, 0.0003  $\mu$ g/L; chlorantraniliprole, 0.0003  $\mu$ g/L; cyantraniliprole, 0.0008  $\mu$ g/L; flonicamid, 0.0008 µg/L; flubeniamide, 0.0008 µg/L; flupyradifurone, 0.0006 µg/L; sulfoxaflor, 0.0010 µg/L. A correction for % recovery was made on all insecticide concentrations and all laboratory blanks were non-detectable.

## 2.6. Data Analyses

I considered using the hierarchical abundance models (Royle, 2004) within the Program R package *unmarked* (Fiske & Chandler, 2011). However, the study protocol was not adequate to meet the assumptions of the models (population closure) and I lacked sufficient sample sizes to reliably estimate detection probabilities. While there are options to relax some assumptions, it is likely they would require more data than available. To address the likelihood of counting the same brood twice I took the maximum count from same day observational visits per species for each survey period. Maximum individual species counts were then summed to generate total counts of ducklings and other young water birds for each survey. I then separated duckling species into guild (dabbler or diver) and summed the average counts across all survey periods. To better focus the analysis, other water bird species were excluded from the analysis. Canada

goose goslings were also excluded largely due to goslings being primarily grazers (Brook et al., 2015). Diving duck ducklings were also removed from the analysis due to an overabundance of zero counts resulting in quasi-complete separation of test models.

I quantified the contribution of insecticides to the overall wetland mixture toxicity based on the pesticide toxicity index (PTI) (Nowell et al., 2014). This method has proven to be a robust method to evaluate toxicity of pesticide mixtures, especially when evaluating aquatic invertebrate communities. In general, this index combines measurements obtained from two classical approaches, toxic unit (TU) and concentration addition (CA). Species sensitivity distributions (SSD) were calculated following Malaj et al. (in prep) and comprised literature values of acute toxicity tests conducted on aquatic benthic invertebrate species in order to derive an acute HC5 (a hazardous concentration for 5% of species) for each of the tested insecticides. The acute HC5 value was then used to weight the insecticide concentrations found in the water samples by dividing the concentration detected in the water sample by the HC5 of the corresponding insecticide. The derived value relative to the HC5 value of all detected insecticides per wetland were summed to give a single value of acute PTI. Chronic PTI was considered for analysis; however, multiple water samples with varied sampling periods within a growing season, are necessary to derive chronic PTI, which was not logistically possible. Hence, only acute PTI was included in my analyses.

To minimize the number of explanatory variables, I used Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to select habitat parameters which explain a larger portion of variance in comparison to other variables (Brown, 2009). For the PCA, 10 habitat parameters were used (percentage of cropland, percentage of wooded area, percentage of roadway, percentage of grassland, percentage of algae, percentage of bordering wetland, percentage of bare bottom, percentage of floating aquatic vegetation, average distance of disturbed wetland vegetation, maximum water depth). PCA was performed in R using the package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2013).

Spearman r-correlation indices of grouped variables (water quality, habitat, etc) were all less than 0.60 confirming non-collinearity of the variables. I fit models using Program R package *glmmTMB* (Brooks et al., 2017) with zero-inflated Poisson (ZIP) distribution, as count data are commonly Poisson distributed (Joe & Zhu, 2005). The duckling data contained an overabundance of zeros as no ducklings were present at 48% of wetlands. I initially explored use

of models with negative binomial and Poisson distributions, but the ZIP models yielded a better model fit. In each model, I included a random effect of transect to account for spatial and temporal variation not accounted for by covariates. I also included a log link offset term of "open water area". I then used similar explanatory variables to build each model, dividing analyses into three separate categories: effects of water quality, influence of habitat characteristics and effects of food availability and composition. To improve assumptions and normality, I log10 transformed 2 variables: aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance and conductivity. I used Akaike's information criterion (AIC<sub>c</sub>) for small sample sizes to select the most parsimonious model via the model.sel function from the 'mumin' package (Barton & Barton, 2015). For models with similar AIC<sub>c</sub> (<2) I used model.avg function from the 'mumin' package (Barton & Barton, 2015) and *AICcmodavg* (Mazerolle, 2020) to average across models to calculate parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Parameters were considered significant if the 95% CIs did not overlap zero. I considered relaxing model constraints however, this is not a common practice of studies with a similar design as mine (Denes et al., 2015; Kemink et al., 2019).

## 3. Results

## 3.1. Duckling Community Composition

I surveyed 58 wetlands for ducklings bi-weekly from June – August (n = 26 wetlands in 2018, n= 32 in 2019). During the first observation period, which started close to sunrise, I typically observed twice as many ducklings (1024 individuals) compared to the  $2^{nd}$  period (467 individuals). Observed species included mallard, gadwall, green-winged teal, blue-winged teal, northern shoveler, northern pintail, redhead, canvasback, scaup, ring-necked duck, bufflehead, and ruddy duck. Dabbling ducks were more commonly observed than diving ducks, with blue-winged teal having the most observations of any species. Diversity also varied across transects with a maximum of 10 duck species at Buchanan and a minimum of 3 at Peterson. The peak number of duckling observations occurred during the later 2 survey periods (late July- early August). Diving duck ducklings were excluded from the statistical analysis based on too few observations resulting in quasi-complete separation in test models. (Table 2; Figure 2).

#### **3.2.** Effects of Water Quality on Dabbling Duck Duckling Abundance

Wetland water quality was sampled once for each of the 58 wetlands in June of each year (2018-2019) for a total of 58 water samples (n= 26 for 2018; n= 32 for 2019). Insecticides were detected in 46.2% of the wetlands in 2018 (max. concentration 2.1953  $\mu$ g/L) and in 56.3% of wetlands in 2019 (max. concentration 0.0242  $\mu$ g/L). The number of insecticide detections was highly variable across transects. Among transects, the highest number of detections ranged from 16 with the corresponding maximum concentration of 2.1953  $\mu$ g/L to 1 with corresponding minimum detected concentration (0.0004  $\mu$ g/L). The average conductivity of wetlands of each transect were highly variable, with Grayson having the highest average conductivity (3062  $\mu$ S/cm) and Ibstone with the lowest average (1257  $\mu$ S/cm). In comparison there was little variance of average pH between transects, being highest at Peterson (9.3 pH) and lowest at Tichfield (8.45 pH) (Table 3).

Results based on AIC model selection suggest that the most parsimonious model included both pH and conductivity as predictors of duckling abundance. Based on the GLM ZIP water quality model I found that both high conductivity and high pH negatively influenced duckling abundance (Table 4-5; Figure 3). I found a negative effect of acute PTI on ducklings, however, the small change in AIC<sub>c</sub> and model-averaged confidence intervals overlapped zero indicating that the effect was non-significant. Overall, model-averaged predictions indicated a significant negative effect from conductivity and a moderate impact from pH (Table 4-5; Figure 3).

## **3.3.** Effects of Habitat on Dabbling Duck Duckling Abundance

Wetland habitat assessments were characterized by 10 variables that included wetland features and surrounding landscape characteristics (Table 1). My PCA indicated that aquatic floating vegetation density, maximum water depth, percentage of surrounding grassland, and the degradation of wetland vegetation from agricultural practices had the highest explanatory power and low collinearity (Figure 4).

On average there was variation of habitat variables between transect sites. Maximum percent grassland was found at the Zealandia transect (21.9 %) while the minimum was at

Grayson (11.4%); Maximum floating aquatic vegetation was found at Peterson (49.5%) while the minimum was at Zealandia (8.3%); Maximum average water depth was at Buchanan (0.82 m) and lowerst at Tichfield (0.21 m); and the maximum wetland vegetation degradation based on the tillage boundary was at Ibstone (40 m) and minimum was at Zealandia (19.5 m). Wetlands within transects had higher variability in characteristics such as water depth and metrics of agro-intensity (Table 1).

Based on the GLM ZIP habitat model, water depth and density of aquatic vegetation significantly influenced dabbler duckling abundance (Table 6). Duckling abundance was negatively impacted by floating aquatic vegetation encroachment of open water and was positively associated with maximum water depth (Table 6-7; Figure 5).

# **3.4.** Effects of Macroinvertebrate Prey Availability on Dabbling Duck Duckling Abundance

In total, I found 11 different Orders of aquatic macroinvertebrates. The abundance and community structures of aquatic macroinvertebrates were highly variable across transects. The maximum occurred at the Buchanan transect (10 Orders) and the minimum at Peterson (3 Orders). The mean total number of aquatic macroinvertebrates was found at the transect Grayson (464.6) while the minimum was recorded at Peterson (63.2); mean aquatic macroinvertebrate biomass was found at Tichfield (4.84 g) and the minimum was at Buchanan (0.26 g) (Table 8).

There was a positive Spearman correlation between aquatic invertebrate biomass and abundance (r=0.626); however, abundance provided a better model fit so I elected to use aquatic invertebrate abundance and excluded biomass from the analysis. The global model containing aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance was more parsimonious than a null model based on AIC<sub>c</sub> (SE = 0.1144; P-Value = 0.0374). I inferred that higher aquatic invertebrate abundance had a positive influence on duckling abundance (Table 9; Figure 6).

## **3.5.** Comparative Analysis of Multiple Explanatory Models

To assess the most important variables from separate models above (top models for habitat, water quality, and food availability), I selected the variables from each top model that significantly impacted duckling abundance and then combined these variables into a single GLM ZIP model. These variables include conductivity, floating aquatic vegetation density, maximum water depth and aquatic invertebrate abundance. I then used AIC<sub>c</sub> and model weight to determine the most parsimonious model containing the explanatory variables of conductivity and floating aquatic vegetation density. All of these variables were retained and were significantly related to duckling abundance (Tables 10 and 11).

## 4. Discussion

## **4.1.** Primary Findings

Growing concerns over the effects of intensive agricultural impacts, specifically on wetlands of the PPR, has led to a need to determine wetland health. My study presents new insights regarding how duckling abundance is influenced by agricultural impacts. My results indicated that variables from each component of wetland health (habitat, water quality, and food availability) influenced dabbling duck duckling abundance. These results support the idea that duckling abundance could be used as a biological indicator of wetland health.

At my study sites, variability in wetland condition was likely influenced by surrounding agricultural practices. Both study years (2018-2019) had a large reduction in water availability throughout the growing season, with 2019 being the drier of the two years. Maximum water depth can be interpreted as water permanency. Shallow wetlands tend to encourage evapotranspiration, due to an increase in surface area and higher water temperatures compared to wetlands with deeper basins (De La Fuente & Meruane, 2017). My finding that water permanency was a predictor of duckling abundance is in line with several previous studies (Pietz et al., 2003; Krapu et al., 2006; Bloom et al., 2012). Previous research indicates that water permanency is a better predictor of duckling abundance during drought conditions, when surface water is scarce (Guntenspergen et al., 2006). Because of this, the results of my study indicating the importance of wetland depths should be interpreted in the context of long-term hydrologic cycles. My study occurred near the beginning of a multi-year drought and therefore it was predictable that wetland depth would be important, whereas in wetter periods the result may have been marginal or not detected. It is likely that weather events will increase in variability based on

predictions of increased ambient temperatures and variable precipitation events (Mcintyre et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020); compounded by further drainage of existing wetlands (Daniel et al., 2022). Furthermore, it is critical to understand key wetland conditions which are beneficial to support a diverse array of biological life.

My results suggest that standing water in wetlands with lower conductivity and neutral pH levels supported the highest number of dabbling duck ducklings. This finding is supported by previous studies that found higher conductivity wetlands increases duckling mortality (Schacter et al., 2021). Compared to conductivity levels reported by Schacter et al. (2021) in coastal wetlands in California, wetlands sampled in Saskatchewan tended to have lower conductivity and ducklings exhibited a higher sensitivity to conductivity ranges. Ingestion of water with a salinity levels as low as 2 ppt ( $3600 \mu$ S/cm) (can impair duckling growth and influence behavior, with mortality occurring above 9 ppt ( $14800 \mu$ S/cm) (Schacter et al., 2021). It is known that water parameters such as conductivity and pH can effect ducklings indirectly by impacting aquatic macroinvertebrate communities (Lovvorn & Crozier, 2022). Similarly, insecticide pollution in wetlands from agricultural practices reportedly impacts aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance (Sumudumali & Jayawardana, 2021).

I hypothesized that insecticide pollution would be a strong predictor of duckling abundance; however, my results only weakly supported this idea. It may be that the range or types of pesticide concentrations I measured during a single sampling event were not high enough to predict a reduction in the abundance of insects and in turn affect duckling abundance. Insecticide pollution in wetlands has been shown to be prevalent in the PPR. Contamination by insecticides, notably neonicotinoids, occurs frequently in wetlands across the PPR, including in this study. Main et al. (2014) detected insecticides in 62% of wetlands in spring and summer in Saskatchewan and my detection frequency was somewhat lower (44.8%). An unpublished study by Malaj et al. (2020) assessing the distribution and concentration on neonicotinoids across the PPR found similar results to mine, with neonicotinoids detected in 29% of wetlands while mean concentrations varied (0.0108  $\mu$ g/L); similar to my findings (0.0565  $\mu$ g/L). Potentially, insecticide pollution did adversely impact aquatic macroinvertebrate communities in my study wetlands based on the growing evidence that neonicotinoids are acutely toxic to non-target invertebrates and exhibit detrimental non-lethal impacts to vertebrates and invertebrates (Eng et al., 2019; Schepker et al., 2020). Further support of this comes from a study conducted in central

Saskatchewan by Cavallaro et al. (2019) which concluded that neonicotinoid pollution in wetlands significantly reduced aquatic macroinvertebrates and altered community composition. Aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance was clearly predictive of duckling abundance in my study wetlands. The abundance of aquatic macroinvertebrates is critical for the growth and survival of ducklings, more so than biomass or abiotic factors (Bataille & Baldassarre, 1993). In a comprehensive study of variables which determine dabbler duckling abundance, Seymour and Jackson (1996) examined 20 abiotic (pH, nutrient loading, water depth, etc.) and biotic (aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance, macrophyte community structure, etc.) variables of 32 lakes in Nova Scotia. Findings suggested that quality duckling habitat was defined by eutrophic areas which support abundant macrophyte and invertebrate communities; moreover, aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance was the most important factor which influenced duckling abundance.

The abundance of aquatic macroinvertebrates is well established as a highly significant factor which influences nesting waterfowl and duckling abundance (Seymour & Jackson, 1996; Gurney et al., 2017; Kahara et al., 2022); equally, aquatic macroinvertebrates demonstrate sensitivities to environmental factors which influence abundance thus macroinvertebrate communities are often used to determine water quality (Castillo-Figueroa et al., 2018; Collins et al., 2019; Dallas, 2021). My result that aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance was a predictor of duckling abundance is a strong support of duckling abundance as a biological indicator of wetland health. A recently thesis by Wade (2021) examined the role of terrestrial vegetation between the cropland and wetland, which acts as a contamination sink or commonly referred to as a buffer. The study area was located in central Saskatchewan and the wetland characteristics closely resemble wetlands of my study. Within the study, aquatic macroinvertebrate communities within the wetland were used as a biological indicator for the quality of the wetland- further supported by abiotic variables like PTI and other agricultural contaminants. Wade's (2021) findings suggest that pesticide pollution (PTI) was a significant predictor of aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance; furthermore, aquatic macroinvertebrate communities were a better predictor of agro-intensity than surrounding land use (e.g., landscape simplification). Contrary to expectation, the vegetative structures of the wetlands did not influence aquatic macroinvertebrate communities.

My finding that duckling abundance is related to aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance is consistent with other studies, and collectively suggests that insecticide pollution could influence duckling abundance indirectly by impacting aquatic macroinvertebrate communities. This is further supported by my findings that water parameters (pH and conductivity) significantly predicted duckling abundance. Furthermore, dabbling duck ducklings may not be as sensitive to aquatic macroinvertebrate communities compared to diving duck ducklings, especially among older dabbling duck ducklings. Hence, a need to further examine the sensitivity of guilds and species to determine the broader value of using duckling abundance as a biological indictor of wetland health.

Wetlands tend to be highly variable while commonly differing by region and between individual ponds. These factors make wetlands difficult to define and assess; compounded by the alterations from the agro-industry and rapid evolution of the mechanical and chemical industries this makes studies of wetlands difficult. The overarching aim of my study is to simplify wetland assessments by assessing whether duckling abundance could be used as a biological indicator of wetland health. My comparison of significant variables which predict duckling abundance is meant to extrapolate which factors are the most influential in determining duckling abundance. My findings suggested that multiple factors were affecting duckling abundance in my study sites including conductivity, pH, water permanency, available open water, and aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance. In contrast, broadscale landscape characteristics are weak predictors of dabbling duck duckling abundance. I propose that my comparative analysis demonstrates dabbling duck ducklings may be a sensitive biological indicator of wetland health.

I found dabbling duck duckling abundance differed among study sites – differences were reflective of traditional influential factors (water parameters, habitat, and food availability). Wetlands that exhibited lower conductivity, balanced pH, higher abundance of aquatic invertebrates and ample available open water had higher dabbling duck duckling abundances; meaning, duckling abundance is a potentially useful biological indicator of wetland health. Still, PTI was not a strong significant predictor of duckling abundance which may be due to the lack of resolution in the method or that other factors in the sampling method that confounded this result. These findings emphasize the importance of preserving, restoring, and protecting wetlands and the macroinvertebrate communities of the PPR as a conservation effort for waterfowl and
wildlife in general. Future work should attempt to further disentangle the specific drivers of quantity and quality of wetlands and the relationship to duckling abundance.

## 4.2.Implications of Findings

The PPR is one of the world's most agro-intensive regions due to its flat terrain, nutrient rich soils and low abundance of woody plants, in addition it is estimated that 75 - 99% of grassland has been converted to crop production (Mckenna et al., 2019). Current agricultural practices commonly use large scale monoculture plantings, convert field margins to crop and drain or degrade wetlands which dramatically decrease available habitats for many grassland and wetland species (Bartzen et al., 2010). Intensive agricultural practices also heavily rely on harmful pesticides (insecticides, fungicides and herbicides) to control invertebrate pests, fungal diseases, and undesirable vegetation. Recent studies indicate wide scale agricultural pollution found in many wetlands across the PPR that could have a significant negative impact on the aquatic and terrestrial food webs, namely aquatic macroinvertebrates (Main et al., 2014; Morrissey et al., 2015). While broad characteristics of each wetland are similar, there are unique differences between wetlands (Holland et al., 1990). These variations make some wetlands more capable of residing a high level of biodiversity while others may limit the amount of diversity and biological productivity (Keddy & Fraser, 2003).

Conservation of vast and dynamic ecosystems, like the PPR, requires monitoring approaches that favour low cost, low effort and high efficiency. In intensively cropped areas where the extent of the impact from the alterations to the landscape from agricultural practices is largely unknown, there is a need to identify an effective predictor of wetland health over short and long time scales. Traditionally, researchers have conducted chemical assays and directly measured physical parameters of aquatic environments (e.g., water temperature, conductivity, nutrients, pollutants, etc.). Commonly, many chemical and physical measurements only characterize conditions at the time of sampling, likely making measures difficult to extrapolate the extent of impact. In addition, water analysis tends to be time consuming and monetarily costly. Alternatively, bioindicators represents the biological impact of direct and indirect stressors in the environment and therefore a superior gauge of overall condition of a habitat when supported by analytical evidence.

Historically, aquatic macroinvertebrate communities have proven to be sensitive and useful bioindicators of physiochemical water parameters, contaminants, and overall habitat condition (Lenat, 1988). While there are lengthy and detailed protocols developed to utilize aquatic macroinvertebrates, particularly for monitoring oligotrophic systems (e.g., streams), a logistical challenge has been the identification process (Bonada et al., 2006). Typically, a high level of taxonomic expertise is required; especially, when identify to taxonomic levels below family. Furthermore, reference material is of variable quality or absent for the local region (Jones, 2008). As a result, the identification process is lengthy and can have a high rate of misidentification (Sweeney et al., 2011). Also, it can be difficult to identify some specimens beyond a higher taxonomic level (i.e. order or family) due to deteriorated condition, morphologically immature, or cryptic. Commonly, identification is limited to higher taxonomic levels, such as families, which can be effective at regional or catchment scales, it is likely less sensitive to minute disturbances (Hewlett, 2000). Logistical constraints are further compounded when assessing eutrophic systems, such as wetlands, which due to higher nutrient loads have very high productivity and requires subsampling (as was done in year 2 of my study). Hence, there is a need to determine species of higher trophic level which exhibit an accurate response to wetland disturbance which can be rapidly assessed and cost effective.

Merely retaining wetlands in the PPR may not be enough, the quality of the wetlands may have a substantial impact on conservation efforts. However, factors which determine the quality of wetlands are currently unclear. While widely used bioindicators such as aquatic macroinvertebrates are relatively effective, they exhibit logistical limitations. Moreover, the PPR is a vast region that is also highly dynamic demonstrating the need for a rapid and easily conducted assessment which can be implemented across a large spatial. Here I found that dabbler ducklings exhibited sensitivities to aquatic habitat conditions while abundance was predicted by traditional measure of wetland health. With evidence that ducklings are effective indicators of wetland health, the use of brood surveys could be more widely used with relatively fewer logistical and cost constraints when compared to traditional measures. Furthermore, the gauge of health or rather the ability for the wetland to sustain a high level of biological activity could be

better represented by ducklings which are an integrated measure. However, the use of higher taxonomic organisms, like waterfowl, can be misleading as there are numerous ecological and environmental factors which influence species specific and age specific abundance. Accordingly, I acknowledge that the effects of wetland condition on duckling abundance in this study may not be fully generalizable to other regions, time frames or conditions, but represent an important step to employ duckling abundance in wetland monitoring programs in the PPR.

#### **4.3.**Limitations and Future Directions

To my knowledge, this is the first assessment of ducklings as a biological indicator of wetland health in the Prairie Pothole Region. Commonly, research on waterfowl broods is conducted with the aim to assess the impact of hypothesized or known variables which influence duckling abundance or survival. Whereas my study was conducted by examining known health conditions of wetlands and if duckling abundance respond to that condition. Due to a lack of true reference sites, I elected a data collection process of a large scope of sampling variables across a gradient of agricultural intensity. This limited extent of sampling which later limited the power of my statistical analysis. In general, wildlife surveys are prone to biases due to the complex interactions (e.g. environmental, behavioral, genetic, etc.) which influence observations. Waterfowl brood surveys tend to exhibit a higher level of observation biases, largely due to the cryptic behavior of hens which varies by species and individuals. Furthermore, it is unclear how environmental factors may influence nesting success. I attempted to address many of these uncertainties by casting a wide set of protocols such as double observations, multiple surveys, collection of a variety of known influential environment variables, etc. However, logistical constraints limited the study scope and my data analysis was relatively coarse, and as a result, interpretation of my results may be considered preliminary. After careful consideration, here, I outline suggestions for future research that aims to assess the effectiveness of ducklings a biological indicator of wetland health in the PPR.

First and arguably, the largest pitfall of this study is a lack in diversity of waterfowl I sampled and the lumping of species into a single abundance metric. It is highly likely that there are varying sensitivities amongst waterfowl guilds, species, and age class. This is a critical knowledge gap of ducklings as a biological indicator, determining which species that are sensitive to wetland condition could provide powerful information to the rapid assessment of

wetland health. Furthermore, determination of species which exhibit acute sensitivity to wetland health could add clarity to why some species of waterfowl are thriving while other populations are decreasing. I attempted to test this in my study; however, due to a limit in observations I was unable to separate dabbler and diving ducks; much less, any individual species differences. Thus, my first recommendation for future work is to assess potential guild or species-specific sensitivity to wetland health. I advise, a study could decrease the frequency of surveys to increase the number of study wetlands, this would likely marginally increase observational error but, disproportionately increase the statistical power of the data. My findings suggest that later in the rearing season (e.g., late July-early August) is an optimal time for brood observation (peak counts). There is likely an annual variance of optimal observational periods likely driven by water availability and ambient temperatures.

Second, I assumed that I measured variables relevant to duckling abundance, but other site characteristics (e.g. local predators or weather events) could strongly affect duckling abundance. The effects of nest predation remain unclear despite numerous studies on the topic, largely due to conflicting results between studies, for example the importance of nest density (Ringelman et al., 2012; Gunnarsson et al., 2013), the effect of vegetation (Thompson et al., 2012; Ringelman, 2014), or the overall impact in relation to other variables (Pieron & Rohwer, 2010; Ringelman et al., 2017). The conflicting results of studies on the impact of predation on duckling abundance is likely due to correlated factors like agricultural intensification. Similarly, the effects of weather events (precipitation and ambient air temperature) appears to have an effect on duckling survival rates; however, to what degree is largely unknown (Pietz et al., 2003). A general consensus across several studies is that ambient temperature marginally impact duckling abundance (Pietz et al., 2003). Furthermore, habitat quality is likely a stronger predictor of fitness, which influences ducklings' aptitude to endure variable weather events. Conversely, Stafford and Pearse (2007) found that precipitation events significantly impacted duckling survival of mallards. Likely due to ducklings limited ability to thermoregulate body temperature, relying on the hen to shield against adverse weather conditions which can dramatically impact the duckling's ability to forage and if exposed the duckling may quickly become hypothermic. There are only a few papers on which examine the adverse impacts of precipitation in the PPR while results from all indicate it remains and important predictor of duckling abundance. Agricultural intensification may magnify the effects of adverse weather events by reducing available food

resources and lack of vegetation to shelter ducklings. I recommend that future studies address this potential issue by a radio telemetry mark-recapture study which examines the role of weather events and habitat selection of brood-rearing hens.

Third, my study assumes that ducklings were only indirectly impacted by insecticides by reducing available food resources (e.g. aquatic macroinvertebrates). It is probable that indirect impacts are possibly a more significant threat, potentially direct effects impact duckling abundance. There are several recently published studies which have found non-lethal concentrations of insecticides in wild populations of vertebrates and invertebrates (Hagen et al.(2020); Pereira et al., 2020). These suggest that insecticides, namely neonicotinoids, are bioaccumulating in invertebrate and seed eating consumers of the PPR. The impacts of this on waterfowl and avian species in general are largely unknown. Based on a study by Eng et al. (2019) researchers found that song birds that ingested neonicotinoids exhibited behaviors which impacted foraging and decreased body weight. Furthermore, a recently published paper by (Elgin et al., 2020) found ubiquitous detections of neonicotinoids in tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*) that forage on emerged invertebrates of wetlands in the PPR. Based on these recent studies, I find it likely that ducklings may be both directly and indirectly impacted by agricultural insecticides. There is a need to examine the potential adverse impacts of insecticide exposure on precocial waterfowl young and the various sublethal effects it may have.

Fourth, I equally weighted the dietary preference of ducklings across all aquatic macroinvertebrates by summing the abundance of all taxa. This assumes that taxonomic orders of invertebrates respond similarly to changes in water quality. The metric of total aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance can be a generalized indicator of water quality; however, it is likely less accurate when compared to macroinvertebrate community compositions. There is extensive research that has addressed the influence of biotic and abiotic factors on aquatic macroinvertebrate communities; moreover, evidence alludes to macroinvertebrate community composition as a reliable bioindicator. In-turn, many water quality agencies across North America have developed and implemented aquatic macroinvertebrate surveys used as bioindicators of various water bodies, including wetlands. While there is an in-depth understanding of how aquatic macroinvertebrate communities change to various water conditions, there is a limited understanding of the dietary preferences of waterfowl. There are

several studies which highlight the importance of aquatic macroinvertebrates as a food resource for waterfowl, especially, precocial young (Krull, 1970; Mcnicol & Wayland, 1992). There are only a few studies which assess the importance of diversity of aquatic macroinvertebrates; furthermore, to the best of my knowledge the research on the dietary preferences of ducks in the PPR is highly limited. This is an overlooked knowledge gap that could provide a critical insight of dietary preferences of waterfowl and establish a connection with the knowledge on aquatic macroinvertebrate communities. Hence, with a knowledge of waterfowl adult and duckling dietary preferences could further illuminate the accuracy of using waterfowl as biological indicators of wetland health.

Fifth, I attempted to have variation in the size and location of wetlands in my study; however, due to environmental constraints (e.g., drought conditions) I focused on only class 4 and 5 wetlands which are the more permanent classes. Furthermore, I limited my study to wetlands that could be viewed in entirety from one stationary position on the roadside, to reduce observational error and disturbance during the duckling surveys. These constraints likely limit how generalizable my findings are to other wetland types found in the PPR (e.g., saline wetlands, large wetlands, lower classed wetlands, etc.). Moreover, although my study spanned 6 transects in a large area within central Saskatchewan, this is only a small portion of the PPR. The conditions which were present in my study may not be applicable in other areas of the PPR. Future studies should include more diversity in wetland type and examine potential variation in location within the PPR by expanding the study area.

Sixth, I assumed that ducklings were isolated to a single wetland, when it is likely females attending ducklings moved to more favorable conditions (e.g. wetlands with relatively higher water permanency). Dzus and Clark (1997) determined that within the first two weeks after hatching, mallard broods were found at up to 5 different wetlands, with an average distance of 211 m for successfully reared young, while broods which exhibited total duckling mortality averaged 311 m. These findings suggest along with supporting studies that external stressors (e.g., agricultural intensity, water availability, etc.) may influence overland travel of waterfowl broods and that merely observing young at a wetland may not indicate the brood's dependency on that wetland. Rather, several surrounding wetlands may be supporting rearing efforts and sampling of wetland clusters may have been more appropriate to detect effects.

Finally, my findings suggest that ducklings may be a biological indicator of wetland health; however, the repeatability of my findings may be limited based on evidence that duckling surveys tend to have a higher degree of observational error in comparison to other wildlife surveys and even adult waterfowl surveys (Giudice, 2001; Pagano & Arnold, 2009). This is largely due to the cryptic behavior waterfowl hens (Lyons et al., 2020). Pagano and Arnold (2009) found that 67.5% of present broods were missed during a ground survey in wetlands where duckling estimates were derived form closed-population mark-recapture techniques. Furthermore, Pagano and Arnold (2009) examined detection probability of ground-based waterfowl surveys and found that the experience level of observers highly influenced detection rate. They found that an experienced waterfowl observer had a detection probability of 0.911 (range = 0.866-0.944) while a novice observer detection probability was 0.790 (range = 0.537-0.890). A relatively new waterfowl survey method may be able to address these limitations; results from some studies suggest higher detection rates compared to more traditional waterfowl survey methods from the use of an inferred and visible light cameras attached to an unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV), commonly referred to as a "drone" (Pöysä et al., 2018; Bushaw et al., 2021).

To summarize, in waterfowl and wetland research, appropriate survey method and data collection protocols are a common debate. This is largely due to knowledge gaps or uncertainties that derive from influential factors which are highly correlated. As a result, a single study is likely not effective in determining the effects of complex interactions. Accordingly, I acknowledge that the effects of wetland characteristics on duckling abundance observed in this study may not be fully generalizable to other spatial temporal scales, conditions, or locations, but represent an important first step for identifying higher trophic organisms such as waterfowl as candidate integrative biological indicators of wetland health in the PPR. My results suggest that not only habitat quantity is important but, rather quality may be a significant influential factor of waterfowl populations. With further supporting research, it appears ducklings may be a powerful tool to measure wetland health; detecting multiple cumulative factors that are likely otherwise imperceptible. Since these factors collectively impact ducklings and likely many other organisms which rely on wetlands of the PPR, estimates of waterfowl brood productivity shows good promise. It is probable that human impact on the PPR will increase including landscape simplification, agro-chemical usage, and global warming. Hence, it is critical to not only

preserve wetlands but, to establish and implement standardized assessments of wetland health which can be used to better focus and enhance conservation efforts. I find it likely waterfowl populations could aid in this and further research should aim to assess the accuracy of duckling abundance or other more species-specific measures as a biological indicator of wetland health in the PPR.

## Tables

**Table 1**.Summary of habitat variables collected at each study wetland (n=58) in the 6 survey transect sites. The mean and standard deviation of habitat variables including cropland percentage, grassland percentage, roadway disturbance, percentage of adjacent wetland, percentage of wooded area, percentage of algae cover, percentage of aquatic vegetation cover, percentage of bare wetland bottom, maximum water depth, wetland basin fill, distance of wetland vegetation degradation. The area of sampling is the prairie region of Saskatchewan during August of 2018 and 2019.

| Transect                                    | Ibstone        | Peterson          | Tichfield         | Buchanan         | Grayson           | Zealandia         |
|---|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Year  | 2018           | 2018              | 2018              | 2019             | 2019              | 2019              |
| Average wetland class                       | 4.7            | 4.86              | 4.89              | 5                | 5                 | 5                 |
| Dominant surrounding crop type              | Canola         | Canola            | Cereal            | Cereal           | Cereal            | Cereal            |
| % Cropland                                  | $82.5\pm22.39$ | $90.71 \pm 12.05$ | $60.56 \pm 15.7$  | $64.58\pm38.64$  | $45.91\pm26.91$   | $58.89 \pm 34.35$ |
| % Grassland                                 | $0\pm 0$       | $0\pm 0$          | $12.78\pm20.17$   | $15.42\pm36.15$  | $11.36\pm25.89$   | $21.88 \pm 41.05$ |
| % Roadway                                   | $15\pm22.85$   | $7.14 \pm 12.2$   | $26.67 \pm 17.32$ | $14.17\pm13.46$  | $28.64 \pm 21.11$ | $17.22 \pm 11.21$ |
| % Adjacent wetland                          | $2.5\pm7.91$   | $2.14\pm5.67$     | $0\pm 0$          | $0\pm 0$         | $14.09\pm20.1$    | $4.44\pm7.26$     |
| % Wooded                                    | $0\pm 0$       | $0\pm 0$          | $0\pm 0$          | $5.83 \pm 13.79$ | $0\pm 0$          | $0\pm 0$          |
| % Algae cover                               | 8 ± 13.98      | $5.71 \pm 15.12$  | $3.33\pm10$       | $25.42\pm28.24$  | $11.36\pm17.33$   | $15.56\pm22.42$   |
| % Aquatic vegetation cover                  | $36\pm35.34$   | $33.57\pm34.97$   | $16.67\pm26.46$   | $24.58\pm29.03$  | $17.27\pm23.28$   | $8.33\pm23.18$    |
| % Bare sediment                             | $36\pm 39.43$  | $15.71 \pm 15.92$ | $45\pm43.59$      | $9.58 \pm 14.84$ | $29.09\pm30.89$   | $22.78\pm34.2$    |
| Max water depth (m)                         | $0.44\pm0.38$  | $0.4\pm0.39$      | $0.22\pm0.24$     | $0.82\pm0.53$    | $0.69\pm0.32$     | $0.37\pm0.37$     |
| Basin fill score (0-5)                      | 3 ± 1.33       | $2.43 \pm 1.81$   | $1.89 \pm 1.54$   | $3.92\pm0.29$    | $3.36\pm0.5$      | $2.78 \pm 1.56$   |
| Distance of degraded wetland vegetation (m) | $40\pm28.77$   | $42.73\pm8.51$    | $9.1\pm18.28$     | $23.27\pm21.49$  | $28.76\pm28.31$   | $39.93\pm 62.11$  |

**Table 2.** A summary of dabbler duckling brood counts collected in the June - August 2018 and 2019 in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Values represent a mean ( $\pm$ SD) of counts from four survey periods at each transect site (n=6). Included are mean and max counts of ducklings by individual species and all species combined (mallard, gadwall, green-winged teal, blue-winged teal, northern shoveler, northern pintail, redhead, canvasback, scaup, ring-necked duck, bufflehead, and ruddy duck).

|                                       |                 |                 | Trai            | isect           |                 |                 |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|
|                                       | Ibstone         | Peterson        | Tichfield       | Buchanan        | Grayson         | Zealandia       |
| Year                                  | 2018            | 2018            | 2018            | 2019            | 2019            | 2019            |
| n Wetlands surveyed                   | 10              | 7               | 9               | 12              | 11              | 9               |
| n Species detected                    | 6               | 3               | 6               | 10              | 5               | 5               |
| Mean count of ducklings (all species) | $0.24 \pm 0.85$ | 0.13±0.57       | $0.32{\pm}1.13$ | $0.21 \pm 0.62$ | $0.13 \pm 0.64$ | $0.12 \pm 0.56$ |
| Max number of ducklings               | 5.75            | 3.25            | 6.75            | 4               | 6.5             | 4               |
| Mallard                               | $0.23 \pm 0.53$ | $0\pm0$         | $1.28 \pm 1.92$ | $0.65 \pm 1.16$ | $0.8 \pm 1.87$  | $0.81{\pm}1.52$ |
| Gadwall                               | $0.45 \pm 0.93$ | 0±0             | $0.42{\pm}1.18$ | $0.06 \pm 0.21$ | $0.16{\pm}0.5$  | $0.25 \pm 0.5$  |
| American wigeon                       | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.08 \pm 0.24$ | 0±0             | $0.09 \pm 0.29$ | 0±0             |
| Green-winged teal                     | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.19{\pm}0.62$ | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Blue-winged teal                      | 0.93±1.31       | $0.75 \pm 1.23$ | $1.89 \pm 2.69$ | $0.9 \pm 1.02$  | $0.55 \pm 0.91$ | $0.28 \pm 0.79$ |
| Northern shoveler                     | $0.45 \pm 0.7$  | 0.14±0.35       | $0.33 \pm 0.78$ | 0±0             | 0.25±0.59       | 0.19±0.55       |
| Northern pintail                      | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.44{\pm}0.84$ | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.17 \pm 0.47$ |
| Redhead                               | $0\pm0$         | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.13 \pm 0.41$ | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Canvasback                            | $0\pm0$         | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0.15±0.36       | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Scaup                                 | $0.7 \pm 1.55$  | $0.86{\pm}1.36$ | 0±0             | $0.33 \pm 0.65$ | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Ring-necked duck                      | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0.13±0.41       | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Bufflehead                            | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0±0             | $0.29{\pm}0.65$ | 0±0             | 0±0             |
| Ruddy duck                            | 0.58±1.73       | 0±0             | 0±0             | 0.17±0.55       | 0±0             | 0±0             |

**Table 3.** Summary of water quality parameters collected at each wetland (n=58) across the 6 transect sites. Water parameters include mean  $\pm$  SD values by transect for conductivity and pH, the number of insecticides detected, mean concentration of insecticides, and Acute Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI) calculated for each wetland in Saskatchewan during June or July of 2018 and 2019.

| Transect                                     | Ibstone               | Peterson           | Tichfield           | Buchanan           | Grayson   | Zealandia        |
|--|-----------------------|--------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---|------------------|
| Year   | 2018                  | 2018               | 2018                | 2019               | 2019  | 2019             |
| n Wetland surveyed                           | 10                    | 7                  | 9                   | 12                 | 11  | 9                |
| Conductivity (µS/cm)                         | $1257.23 \pm 1068.69$ | 1811.14±<br>359.02 | 2683.11±<br>1761.89 | 1391.58±<br>687.31 | $\begin{array}{c} 3062 \pm \\ 892.05 \end{array}$ | 2767±<br>2109.13 |
| рН   | 9±0.85                | 9.3±0.76           | $8.45 \pm 0.59$     | 8.54±0.32          | 8.73±0.35   | 9.18±0.34        |
| <b>Total number of Insecticides Detected</b> | 16                    | 6                  | 2                   | 10                 | 1   | 6                |
| Insecticide Total Conc.<br>(ng/L)            | 328.3±232.1           | 3.6 ± 2.2          | $0.7 \pm 0.5$       | $2.9 \pm 1.4$      | $0\pm 0$  | $3.6 \pm 2.6$    |
| PTI<br>(ng/L)                                | 213.1±152.8           | 3.6 ± 2.2          | $0.1 \pm 0.1$       | $0.6 \pm 0.3$      | $0\pm 0$  | 1 ± 0.6          |

**Table 4.** Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC<sub>c</sub>) and model weight ( $W_i$ ) for each candidate models to explain variation of duckling abundance in relation to pH, conductivity, and Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI). Water parameter and duckling data were collected during June or July 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Also shown are number of model parameters (k) and log-likelihood value (log( $L_i$ )).

|                      | Independent Variable                | k | Log(Li) | AICc   | ΔAICe | Wi     |
|----------------------|-------------------------------------|---|---------|--------|-------|--------|
| Dabbler<br>Abundance | log (Conductivity) + pH             | 5 | -119.46 | 250.07 | 0.00  | 0.6737 |
|                      | acute PTI+ pH+<br>log(Conductivity) | 6 | -119.18 | 252.00 | 1.93  | 0.2565 |
|                      | pH                                  | 4 | -122.92 | 254.60 | 4.53  | 0.0699 |
|                      | NULL                                | 3 | -133.64 | 273.73 | 23.66 | 0.0000 |

**Table 5.** Model averaged parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CI) explaining variation of dabbler duckling abundance. Parameters included pH, conductivity and acute Pesticide Toxicity Index (PTI). Water quality and duckling count data were collected in June or July of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Parameters with significant effects are indicated in bold font.

|                                | Parameter estimates (CI) |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------|
| (Intercept)                    | 6.21 (1.48, 11.12)       |
| Acute Pesticide Toxicity Index | -3.85 (-8.71, 0.54)      |
| log(Conductivity)              | -0.35 (-0.83, -0.05)     |
| pН                             | -0.26 (-0.75, 0.01)      |

**Table 6.** Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC<sub>c</sub>) and model weight ( $W_i$ ) for each candidate models to explain variation of duckling abundance in relation to maximum water depth, aquatic vegetation density, grassland percentage, and distance of wetland vegetation degradation. Wetland characteristic variables and duckling data were collected during August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Also shown are number of model parameters (k) and log-likelihood value (log(L<sub>i</sub>)).

|                      | Independent Variable  | k | log(L <sub>i</sub> ) | AICc   | ΔAI<br>C  | Wi   |
|----------------------|---|---|----------------------|--------|-----------|------|
| Dabbler<br>Abundance | Max. Water Depth + Aquatic Veg.<br>Density  | 5 | -126.28              | 263.71 | 0.00      | 0.42 |
|                      | Max. Water Depth + Aquatic Veg.<br>Density + Grassland                              | 6 | -125.10              | 263.84 | 0.13      | 0.39 |
|                      | Max. Water Depth + Aquatic Veg.<br>Density + Grassland+ Wetland Veg.<br>Degradation | 7 | -124.75              | 265.74 | 2.03      | 0.15 |
|                      | Max. Water Depth  | 4 | -129.83              | 268.41 | 4.70      | 0.04 |
|                      | NULL  | 3 | -133.64              | 273.73 | 10.0<br>2 | 0.00 |

**Table 7.** Model averaged parameter estimates and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) explaining variation of dabbler duckling abundance. Three variables were important in the top model: floating aquatic vegetation density, maximum water depth and percentage of grassland. Water parameters and duckling count data were collected during the August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Parameters with significant effects are indicated in bold font.

|                               | Parameter Estimates (CI) |
|-------------------------------|--------------------------|
| (Intercept)                   | 0.635 (-0.001, 1.272)    |
| Floating Aquatic Veg. Density | -0.016 (-0.026, -0.006)  |
| Max. Water Depth              | 0.703 (0.391, 1.015)     |
| Grassland                     | -0.001 (-0.012, 0.004)   |

**Table 8.** Summary, including mean  $\pm$  SD, of aquatic macroinvertebrate samples collected at each study wetland (n=58) across the 6 transect sites in Saskatchewan. Macroinvertebrate samples were collected once during the August 2018 and 2019.

| Transect                      | Ibstone              | Peterson         | Tichfield             | Buchanan              | Grayson               | Zealandia             |
|-------------------------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| Year                          | 2018                 | 2018             | 2018                  | 2019                  | 2019                  | 2019                  |
| n wetlands surveyed           | 10                   | 9                | 9                     | 12                    | 11                    | 9                     |
| n Aq. Invert. Orders          | 6                    | 3                | 6                     | 10                    | 6                     | 6                     |
| Max Total Aq. Invert.         | 11540                | 1330             | 20580                 | 5640                  | 9820                  | 8920                  |
| Max Biomass of                | 1 188                | 2 554            | 30 871                | 0.9/1                 | 1 261                 | 2 748                 |
| Aq. Invert. (g)               | т.тоо                | 2.334            | 50.071                | 0.71                  | 1.201                 | 2.740                 |
| Mean Total Aq.<br>Invert.     | $308.04 \pm 1331.89$ | $63.22\pm163.79$ | $428.56 \pm 2119.94$  | $392.06 \pm 1067.73$  | 464.6 ± 1333.13       | $377.89 \pm 1113.2$   |
| <b>Biomass of Aq. Invert.</b> | $1.15 \pm 1.23$      | $0.94\pm0.86$    | $4.84\pm9.25$         | $0.26\pm0.25$         | $0.34\pm0.34$         | $0.54\pm0.8$          |
| Diptera                       | $2467.5 \pm 3705.04$ | $139.6\pm163.77$ | $1645.11 \pm 719.69$  | $1145.67 \pm 1230.72$ | $845.36 \pm 1123.58$  | $557.22 \pm 567.39$   |
| Gastropoda                    | $0\pm 0$             | $0\pm 0$         | $0\pm 0$              | $2407.42 \pm 2199.51$ | $3608.45 \pm 2593.15$ | $1856.44 \pm 2686.32$ |
| Hemiptera                     | $525.9\pm537.33$     | $304.3\pm359.52$ | $362.33\pm342.6$      | $552.25 \pm 658.49$   | $283.45\pm223.5$      | $670.89 \pm 512.73$   |
| Amphipoda                     | $76.4\pm227.87$      | $0.3\pm0.64$     | $2614.78 \pm 6413.76$ | $35.83\pm116.45$      | $38.18\pm89.63$       | $848.89 \pm 1558.44$  |
| Ephemeroptera                 | $0.1\pm0.3$          | $0\pm 0$         | $5\pm14.14$           | $19.75\pm38.93$       | $1.82\pm5.75$         | $16.78\pm19.97$       |
| Odonata                       | $63\pm81.12$         | $158.4\pm188.17$ | $1.89 \pm 4.12$       | $56.17\pm80.78$       | $60.18 \pm 112.91$    | $15.56\pm20.92$       |
| Tricoptera                    | $4.2\pm6.76$         | $7.2\pm13.43$    | $41.89\pm 64.45$      | $3.58\pm5.92$         | $41.73\pm84.55$       | $4.44 \pm 12.57$      |
| Coleoptera                    | $40.3\pm58.91$       | $7.8\pm7.45$     | $34.67\pm43.98$       | $24.17\pm31.47$       | $61.36\pm51.78$       | $18.89 \pm 14.74$     |
| Plecoptera                    | $201\pm248.26$       | $73.1\pm67.92$   | $7.89 \pm 10.82$      | $34.33\pm31.43$       | $118\pm95.06$         | $104.67 \pm 119.3$    |
| Hydracarina                   | $9.5\pm12.38$        | $4.7\pm7.66$     | $0.56 \pm 1.57$       | $32.42\pm28.32$       | $52\pm 66.57$         | $63\pm116.08$         |
| Megaloptera                   | $0.5 \pm 1.5$        | $0\pm 0$         | $0\pm 0$              | $1.08\pm3.59$         | $0\pm 0$              | $0\pm 0$              |
| Zooplankton                   | N/A                  | N/A              | N/A                   | $68.83\pm45.21$       | $46\pm92.02$          | $446.22 \pm 656.91$   |

**Table 9.** Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes and model weights for the top candidate model and null model explaining variation in dabbler duckling abundance. The only parameter retained was aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance (log). Aquatic macroinvertebrates and duckling data were collected during August 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.

| Independent Variable        | k | $\log(L_i)$ | AICc     | ΔΑΙC     | Wi    |
|-----------------------------|---|-------------|----------|----------|-------|
| Log (Aq. Invert. Abundance) | 4 | -131.398    | 271.5502 | 0        | 0.748 |
| NULL                        | 3 | -133.643    | 273.7295 | 2.179283 | 0.252 |

**Table 10.** Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AICc) and model weight (Wi) for each candidate models to explain variation of duckling abundance in relation to aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance, conductivity, maximum water depth and aquatic vegetation density. Wetland and duckling data were collected during June - August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan. Also shown are number of model parameters (k) and log-likelihood value (log(Li)).

|   | k | logLik  | AICc       | delta     | weight      |
|---|---|---------|------------|-----------|-------------|
| log(Conductivity) + Aquatic Veg. Density  | 5 | -121.76 | 254.6<br>8 | 0         | 0.71        |
| log(Conductivity)+Aq. Invert. Abundance +<br>Aquatic Veg. Density                   | 6 | -121.72 | 257.0<br>8 | 2.40      | 0.21        |
| log(Conductivity)+Aq. Invert. Abundance + Max.<br>Water Depth +Aquatic Veg. Density | 7 | -121.70 | 259.6<br>3 | 4.96      | 0.06        |
| log(Conductivity)   | 4 | -126.94 | 262.6<br>3 | 7.95      | 0.01        |
| NULL  | 3 | -133.64 | 273.7<br>3 | 19.0<br>5 | <0.000<br>1 |

**Table 11.** Parameter estimates from a zero-inflated Poisson model of dabbling duck duckling abundance in relation to conductivity, and aquatic vegetation density. Wetland and duckling data were collected during the June - August 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.

|                         | Estimate | Std.<br>Error | z value | Pr(> z ) |
|-------------------------|----------|---------------|---------|----------|
| (Intercept)             | -2.40    | 1.70          | -1.41   | 0.16     |
| log(Conductivity)       | -0.83    | 0.21          | -3.88   | <0.0001  |
| Aquatic Veg.<br>Density | -0.02    | 0.01          | -2.86   | <0.0001  |

# Figures



**Figure 1.** Map showing the 6 sampling sites in southern Saskatchewan where collection of duckling brood surveys, wetland water quality, aquatic macroinvertebrates, and wetland and landscape habitat features occurred in 2018 and 2019.



**Figure 2.** Mean dabbling duckling brood counts across four observational periods during surveys of wetlands (n=58) in the June - August 2018 and 2019 in Saskatchewan. Ducklings have been separated by guild (diver & dabbler) and total abundance.



**Figure 3.** Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model for dabbling duck duckling abundance in relation to pH and conductivity. The model-predicted duckling abundance (solid line) is shown with the 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines). Water chemistry and duckling data were collected during the June - August 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) found in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.



**Figure 4.** PCA biplot of wetland and surrounding habitat variables (floating veg. encroachment, density of wooded plants, roadway displacement, max. water depth, percentage of bare bottom, cropland percentage, distance of wetland vegetation disturbance, percentage of algae, percentage of grassland) highlighted in blue. Habitat data were collected during June - August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.



**Figure 5.** Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model on dabbler duckling abundance in relation to wetland habitat variables (maximum water depth, aquatic vegetation density, and surrounding grassland). The predicted model is symbolized as a solid line while the 95% confidence intervals are dashed lines. Habitat variables and duckling data were collected during June - August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.



**Figure 6.** Predictions of zero-inflated Poisson model on dabbler duckling abundance in relation to aquatic macroinvertebrate abundance. The predicted model is symbolized as a solid line while the 95% confidence intervals are dashed lines. aquatic macroinvertebrates and duckling data was collected during June - August of 2018 and 2019 at wetlands (n=58) in the prairie region of Saskatchewan.

### **Literature Cited**

- Aagaard, Kevin J, Lonsdorf, Eric V, & Thogmartin, Wayne E. (2022). Effects of Weather Variation on Waterfowl Migration: Lessons from a Continental-Scale Generalizable Avian Movement and Energetics Model. *Ecology and Evolution*, 12(2), e8617.
- Afton, Alan D, & Hier, Ross H. (1991). Diets of Lesser Scaup Breeding in Manitoba (Dieta De Individuos De Aythya Affinis Que Se Están Reproduciendo). Journal of Field Ornithology, 325-334.
- Andersen, Osh Barbara, Crow, Thomas R, Lietz, Sue M, & Stearns, Forest. (1996).
   Transformation of a Landscape in the Upper Mid-West, USA: The History of the Lower
   St. Croix River Valley, 1830 to Present. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 35(4), 247-267.
- Ankney, C Davison, & Afton, Alan D. (1988). Bioenergetics of Breeding Northern Shovelers: Diet, Nutrient Reserves, Clutch Size, and Incubation. *The Condor, 90*(2), 459-472.
- Ankney, C Davison, & Alisauskas, Ray T. (1991). Nutrient-Reserve Dynamics and Diet of Breeding Female Gadwalls. *The Condor*, 93(4), 799-810.
- Badiou, Pascal, Page, Bryan, & Akinremi, Wole. (2018). Phosphorus Retention in Intact and Drained Prairie Wetland Basins: Implications for Nutrient Export. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 47(4), 902-913.
- Ballard, Derek C, Jones III, Orrin E, & Janke, Adam K. (2021). Factors Affecting Wetland Use by Spring Migrating Ducks in the Southern Prairie Pothole Region. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 85(7), 1490-1506.

Bartlett, Adrienne J, Hedges, Amanda M, Intini, Kyna D, Brown, Lisa R, Maisonneuve, France J, Robinson, Stacey A, . . . de Solla, Shane R. (2018). Lethal and Sublethal Toxicity of Neonicotinoid and Butenolide Insecticides to the Mayfly, Hexagenia Spp. *Environmental Pollution*, 238, 63-75.

Barton, Kamil, & Barton, Maintainer Kamil. (2015). Package 'Mumin'. Version, 1(18), 439.

- Bartonek, James C, & Hickey, Joseph J. (1969). Food Habits of Canvasbacks, Redheads, and Lesser Scaup in Manitoba. *The Condor*, *71*(3), 280-290.
- Bartzen, Blake A, Dufour, Kevin W, Clark, Robert G, & Caswell, F Dale. (2010). Trends in Agricultural Impact and Recovery of Wetlands in Prairie Canada. *Ecological Applications*, 20(2), 525-538.
- Bataille, Karen J, & Baldassarre, Guy A. (1993). Distribution and Abundance of Aquatic Macroinvertebrates Following Drought in Three Prairie Pothole Wetlands. *Wetlands*, 13(4), 260-269.
- Bloom, Pauline M, Clark, Robert G, Howerter, David W, & Armstrong, Llwellyn M. (2012).
   Landscape-Level Correlates of Mallard Duckling Survival: Implications for Conservation
   Programs. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 76(4), 813-823.
- Boere, Gerard C, Galbraith, Colin A, & Stroud, David A. (2006). Waterbirds around the World: A Global Overview of the Conservation, Management and Research of the World's Waterbird Flyways: Stationery Office.
- Bolding, Matthew. (2018). Vegetation Based Assessment of Wetland Condition in the Prairie Pothole Region. University of Waterloo,

- Bonada, Nuria, Prat, Narcís, Resh, Vincent H, & Statzner, Bernhard. (2006). Developments in Aquatic Insect Biomonitoring: A Comparative Analysis of Recent Approaches. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.*, 51, 495-523.
- Brasher, Michael G, Giocomo, James J, Azure, David A, Bartuszevige, Anne M, Flaspohler,
  Mark E, Harrigal, Dean E, . . . Stephens, Scott E. (2019). The History and Importance of
  Private Lands for North American Waterfowl Conservation. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*,
  43(3), 338-354.
- Brewster, Wayne G, Gates, John M, & Flake, Lester D. (1976). Breeding Waterfowl Populations and Their Distribution in South Dakota. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 50-59.
- Brook, Rodney, Leafloor, James, Abraham, Kenneth, & Douglas, David. (2015). Density
   Dependence and Phenological Mismatch: Consequences for Growth and Survival of Sub Arctic Nesting Canada Geese. Avian Conservation and Ecology, 10(1).
- Brooks, Mollie E, Kristensen, Kasper, Van Benthem, Koen J, Magnusson, Arni, Berg, Casper W, Nielsen, Anders, . . . Bolker, Benjamin M. (2017). Glmmtmb Balances Speed and Flexibility among Packages for Zero-Inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. *The R Journal*, 9(2), 378-400.
- Brown, Jean Dean. (2009). Principal Components Analysis and Exploratory Factor Analysis &Ndash Definitions, Differences, and Choices. *Statistics*, 13(1), 26-30.
- Buderman, Frances E, Devries, Jim H, & Koons, David N. (2020). Changes in Climate and Land Use Interact to Create an Ecological Trap in a Migratory Species. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(8), 1961-1977.

- Bushaw, Jacob D, Terry, Catrina V, Ringelman, Kevin M, Johnson, Michael K, Kemink, Kaylan M, & Rohwer, Frank C. (2021). Application of Unmanned Aerial Vehicles and Thermal Imaging Cameras to Conduct Duck Brood Surveys. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 45(2), 274-281.
- Carrlson, Kaylan M, Gue, Charles Tanner, Loesch, Charles R, & Walker, Johann A. (2018).
   Assessment of Repeat-Visit Surveys as a Viable Method for Estimating Brood
   Abundance at the 10.4-Km2 Scale. *Wildlife Society Bulletin, 42*(1), 72-77.
- Castillo-Figueroa, Dennis, Garzón-Salamanca, Laura L, & Albarracín-Caro, Juan F. (2018). Aquatic Macroinvertebrates as Water Quality Bioindicators in Colombia: A Systematic Review. *Neotropical Biology and Conservation*, 13(3), 235-248.
- Cavallaro, Michael C, Main, Anson R, Liber, Karsten, Phillips, Iain D, Headley, John V, Peru, Kerry M, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2019). Neonicotinoids and Other Agricultural Stressors Collectively Modify Aquatic Insect Communities. *Chemosphere*, 226, 945-955.
- Chen, Hongyang, Zou, Junyu, Cui, Jun, Nie, Ming, & Fang, Changming. (2018). Wetland Drying Increases the Temperature Sensitivity of Soil Respiration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 120, 24-27.
- Collins, Sara J, Bellingham, Lindsay, Mitchell, Greg W, & Fahrig, Lenore. (2019). Life in the Slow Drain: Landscape Structure Affects Farm Ditch Water Quality. *Science of the Total Environment*, 656, 1157-1167.
- Cowardin, Lewis M. (1979). *Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater Habitats of the United States*: Fish and Wildlife Service, US Department of the Interior.

- Dallas, Helen F. (2021). Rapid Bioassessment Protocols Using Aquatic Macroinvertebrates in Africa–Considerations for Regional Adaptation of Existing Biotic Indices. *Frontiers in Water*, 3, 628227.
- Daniel, Jody, Rooney, Rebecca C, & Robinson, Derek T. (2022). Climate, Land Cover and Topography: Essential Ingredients in Predicting Wetland Permanence. *Biogeosciences*, 19(5), 1547-1570.
- de la Fuente, Alberto, & Meruane, Carolina. (2017). Spectral Model for Long-Term Computation of Thermodynamics and Potential Evaporation in Shallow Wetlands. *Water Resources Research*, 53(9), 7696-7715.
- De Mendoza, Ricardo Santiago, & Gómez, Raúl Orencio. (2022). Ecomorphology of the Tarsometatarsus of Waterfowl (Anseriformes) Based on Geometric Morphometrics and Its Application to Fossils. *The Anatomical Record*.
- Denes, Francisco V, Silveira, Luis Fabio, & Beissinger, Steven R. (2015). Estimating Abundance of Unmarked Animal Populations: Accounting for Imperfect Detection and Other Sources of Zero Inflation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(5), 543-556.
- Dixon, Cami, Vacek, Sara, & Grant, Todd. (2019). Evolving Management Paradigms on Us Fish and Wildlife Service Lands in the Prairie Pothole Region. *Rangelands*, *41*(1), 36-43.
- Doherty, Kevin E, Howerter, David W, Devries, James H, & Walker, Johann. (2018). Prairie Pothole Region of North America 53.

- Doherty, Kevin E, Howerter, David W, Devries, James H, & Walker, Johann. (2018). Prairie Pothole Region of North America 53. *The wetland book. Springer, Dordrecht. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4001-3\_15</u>.*
- Dooley, Joshua, & Brook, Rod. (2018). Management Plan for Midcontinent Lesser Snow Geese in the Mississippi Flyway.
- Dzus, EH, & Clark, RG. (1997). Overland Travel, Food Abundance, and Wetland Use by Mallards: Relationships with Offspring Survival. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 504-515.
- Ebbinghaus-Kintscher, Ulrich, Luemmen, Peter, Lobitz, Nicole, Schulte, Thomas, Funke, Christian, Fischer, Rüdiger, . . . Tohnishi, Masanori. (2006). Phthalic Acid Diamides Activate Ryanodine-Sensitive Ca2+ Release Channels in Insects. *Cell Calcium, 39*(1), 21-33.
- Elbert, Alfred, Haas, Matthias, Springer, Bernd, Thielert, Wolfgang, & Nauen, Ralf. (2008). Applied Aspects of Neonicotinoid Uses in Crop Protection. *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 64(11), 1099-1105.
- Elgin, Andrew S, Clark, Robert G, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2020). Tree Swallow Selection for Wetlands in Agricultural Landscapes Predicted by Central-Place Foraging Theory. *The Condor, 122*(4), duaa039.
- Eng, Margaret L, Stutchbury, Bridget JM, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2019). A Neonicotinoid Insecticide Reduces Fueling and Delays Migration in Songbirds. *Science*, 365(6458), 1177-1180.

- Fish, US, & Service, Wildlife. (2019). Adaptive Harvest Management: 2021 Hunting Season. US Department of Interior, Washington, DC.
- Fiske, Ian, & Chandler, Richard. (2011). Unmarked: An R Package for Fitting Hierarchical Models of Wildlife Occurrence and Abundance. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 43(10), 1-23.
- Fredrickson, Leigh H, & Reid, Fredric A. (1988). Waterfowl Management Handbook. Fish and Wildlife Leaflet, 13(1), 1.
- Ghelichpour, Melika, & Mirghaed, Ali Taheri. (2019). Effects of Sublethal Exposure to New Pesticides Lufenuron and Flonicamid on Common Carp, Cyprinus Carpio, Hydromineral Balance to Further Saltwater Exposure. *International Journal of Aquatic Biology*, 7(4), 195-201.
- Giudice, John H. (2001). Visibility Bias in Waterfowl Brood Surveys and Population Ecology of Dabbling Ducks in Central Washington: University of Idaho.
- Gleason, Robert A, Euliss, NH, Tangen, BA, Laubhan, MK, & Browne, BA. (2011). Usda Conservation Program and Practice Effects on Wetland Ecosystem Services in the Prairie Pothole Region. *Ecological Applications*, 21(sp1), S65-S81.
- Goldsborough, L Gordon, & Crumpton, William G. (1998). Distribution and Environmental Fate of Pesticides in Prairie Wetlands. *Great Plains Research*, 73-95.
- Goulson, Dave. (2013). An Overview of the Environmental Risks Posed by Neonicotinoid Insecticides. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(4), 977-987.

- Gunnarsson, Gunnar, Elmberg, Johan, Pöysä, Hannu, Nummi, Petri, Sjöberg, Kjell, Dessborn, Lisa, & Arzel, Céline. (2013). Density Dependence in Ducks: A Review of the Evidence. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 59(3), 305-321.
- Guntenspergen, Glenn R, Johnson, W Carter, & Naugle, David E. (2006). Prairie Wetlands and Climate Change-Droughts and Ducks on the Prairies. US Geological Survey Fact Sheet (USGS FS-2006-3144) Patuxent Wildlife Research Laboratory.
- Gurney, KEB, Clark, RG, Slattery, SM, & Ross, LCM. (2017). Connecting the Trophic Dots: Responses of an Aquatic Bird Species to Variable Abundance of Macroinvertebrates in Northern Boreal Wetlands. *Hydrobiologia*, 785(1), 1-17.
- Haas, Julian, Zaworra, Marion, Glaubitz, Johannes, Hertlein, Gillian, Kohler, Maxie, Lagojda, Andreas, . . . Davies, TG Emyr. (2021). A Toxicogenomics Approach Reveals
  Characteristics Supporting the Honey Bee (Apis Mellifera L.) Safety Profile of the
  Butenolide Insecticide Flupyradifurone. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 217*, 112247.
- Hagen, Patrick, Carstensen, Michelle, Michel, Eric, & Kelly, Janetta. (2020) Assessing Neonicotinoids Exposure in Free-Ranging White-Tailed Deer in Minnesota.
- Hallmann, Caspar A, Foppen, Ruud PB, van Turnhout, Chris AM, de Kroon, Hans, & Jongejans,
  Eelke. (2014). Declines in Insectivorous Birds Are Associated with High Neonicotinoid
  Concentrations. *Nature*, *511*(7509), 341.
- Hanson, Mark A, & Butler, Malcolm G. (1994). Responses to Food Web Manipulation in a Shallow Waterfowl Lake. *Hydrobiologia*, 279(1), 457-466.

- Harms, Tyler M. (2021). *Methods for Surveying and Estimating Breeding Waterfowl Populations in the Prairie Pothole Region of Iowa*. Iowa State University,
- Hasan, Fazil, Mahboob, Shahid, Al-Ghanim, Khalid A, Al-Misned, Fahad, Dhillon, Mukesh K,
  & Manzoor, Uzma. (2020). Ecotoxicity of Neonicotinoids and Diamides on Population Growth Performance of Zygogramma Bicolorata (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 203*, 110998.
- Heink, Ulrich, & Kowarik, Ingo. (2010). What Are Indicators? On the Definition of Indicators in Ecology and Environmental Planning. *Ecological Indicators*, 10(3), 584-593.
- Henry, Brianna L, Wesner, Jeff S, & Kerby, Jacob L. (2020). Cross-Ecosystem Effects of Agricultural Tile Drainage, Surface Runoff, and Selenium in the Prairie Pothole Region. *Wetlands*, 40(3), 527-538.
- Hewlett, Rebecca. (2000). Implications of Taxonomic Resolution and Sample Habitat for Stream Classification at a Broad Geographic Scale. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 19(2), 352-361.
- Higgins, Kenneth F, Naugle, David E, & Forman, Kurt J. (2002). A Case Study of Changing Land Use Practices in the Northern Great Plains, USA: An Uncertain Future for Waterbird Conservation. *Waterbirds*, 42-50.
- Holland, MJ, Whigham, Dennis F, & Gopal, Brij. (1990). Characteristics of Wetland Ecotones. The ecology and management of Aquatic-Terrestrial Ecotones.
- Isola, CR, Colwell, MA, Taft, OW, & Safran, RJ. (2000). Interspecific Differences in Habitat Use of Shorebirds and Waterfowl Foraging in Managed Wetlands of California's San Joaquin Valley. *Waterbirds*, 196-203.

- Jeanguenat, André. (2013). The Story of a New Insecticidal Chemistry Class: The Diamides. *Pest Management Science*, 69(1), 7-14.
- Joe, Harry, & Zhu, Rong. (2005). Generalized Poisson Distribution: The Property of Mixture of Poisson and Comparison with Negative Binomial Distribution. *Biometrical Journal: Journal of Mathematical Methods in Biosciences*, 47(2), 219-229.
- Johns, David W. (2019). From Ecophysiology to Ecoregions: Integrating Patterns in Waterfowl Reproductive Success Across Multiple Scales. University of Saskatchewan,
- Johnson, Fred A, & Case, Dave J. (2000). Adaptive Regulation of Waterfowl Harvests: Lessons Learned and Prospects for the Future.
- Johnson, Kevin P, Clayton, Dale H, Dumbacher, John P, & Fleischer, Robert C. (2010). The Flight of the Passenger Pigeon: Phylogenetics and Biogeographic History of an Extinct Species. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 57(1), 455-458.
- Johnson, Rex R, Oslund, Fred T, & Hertel, Dan R. (2008). The Past, Present, and Future of Prairie Potholes in the United States. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 63(3), 84A-87A.
- Johnston, Carol A, & McIntyre, Nancy E. (2019). Effects of Cropland Encroachment on Prairie Pothole Wetlands: Numbers, Density, Size, Shape, and Structural Connectivity. *Landscape Ecology*, 34(4), 827-841.
- Jones, F Chris. (2008). Taxonomic Sufficiency: The Influence of Taxonomic Resolution on Freshwater Bioassessments Using Benthic Macroinvertebrates. *Environmental Reviews*, 16(NA), 45-69.

- Kadala, Aklesso, Charreton, Mercedes, & Collet, Claude. (2020). Flubendiamide, the First Phthalic Acid Diamide Insecticide, Impairs Neuronal Calcium Signalling in the Honey Bee's Antennae. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 125, 104086.
- Kahara, Sharon N, Skalos, Daniel, Madurapperuma, Buddhika, & Hernandez, Kaitlyn. (2022).
   Habitat Quality and Drought Effects on Breeding Mallard and Other Waterfowl
   Populations in California, USA. *The Journal of Wildlife Management, 86*(1), e22133.
- Keddy, Paul A, & Fraser, Lauchlan H. (2003). The Management of Wetlands for Biological Diversity: Four Principles. In *Modern Trends in Applied Aquatic Ecology* (pp. 21-42): Springer.
- Kemink, Kaylan M, Gue, C Tanner, Loesch, Charles R, Cressey, Ryann L, Sieges, Mason L, & Szymanski, Michael L. (2019). Impacts of Oil and Gas Development on Duck Brood Abundance. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 83(7), 1485-1494.
- Klett, Albert T, Shaffer, Terry L, & Johnson, Douglas H. (1988). Duck Nest Success in the Prairie Pothole Region. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 431-440.
- Krapu, Gary L, Pietz, Pamela J, & Brandt, David A. (2006). Mallard Brood Movements, Wetland Use, and Duckling Survival During and Following a Prairie Drought. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 70(5), 1436-1444.
- Krull, John N. (1970). Aquatic Plant-Macroinvertebrate Associations and Waterfowl. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 707-718.

- Lamb, Clayton T, Mowat, Garth, Reid, Aaron, Smit, Laura, Proctor, Michael, McLellan, Bruce N, . . . Boutin, Stan. (2018). Effects of Habitat Quality and Access Management on the Density of a Recovering Grizzly Bear Population. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(3), 1406-1417.
- Lenat, David R. (1988). Water Quality Assessment of Streams Using a Qualitative Collection Method for Benthic Macroinvertebrates. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 7(3), 222-233.
- Lewis, Tyler L, Schmutz, Joel A, Amundson, Courtney L, & Lindberg, Mark S. (2016).
   Waterfowl Populations Are Resilient to Immediate and Lagged Impacts of Wildfires in the Boreal Forest. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 53(6), 1746-1754.
- Li, Yijia, Miao, Ruiqing, & Khanna, Madhu. (2020). Neonicotinoids and Decline in Bird Biodiversity in the United States. *Nature Sustainability*, *3*(12), 1027-1035.
- Lokemoen, John T, Duebbert, Harold F, & Sharp, David E. (1984). Nest Spacing, Habitat Selection, and Behavior of Waterfowl on Miller Lake Island, North Dakota. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 309-321.
- Longcore, JR, & Ringelman, JK. (1980). *Factors Affecting Waterfowl Breeding Density and Productivity Estimates in the Northeast.* Paper presented at the Transactions of the Northeast Section of the Wildlife Society, Annual Fish and Wildlife Conference.
- Lovvorn, James R, & Crozier, Michelle L. (2022). Duck Use of Saline Wetlands Created by Irrigation in a Semiarid Landscape. *Wetlands*, *42*(1), 1-13.

- Lyons, Timothy P, Stodola, Kirk W, & Benson, Thomas J. (2020). Estimating the Survival of Unmarked Young from Repeated Counts. *Wildlife Biology*, 2020(1), 1-9.
- Ma, Wen, Li, Jun, Li, Xianjiang, & Liu, Huwei. (2022). Enrichment of Diamide Insecticides from Environmental Water Samples Using Metal-Organic Frameworks as Adsorbents for Determination by Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 422, 126839.
- Main, Anson R, Fehr, Jessica, Liber, Karsten, Headley, John V, Peru, Kerry M, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2017). Reduction of Neonicotinoid Insecticide Residues in Prairie Wetlands by Common Wetland Plants. *Science of the Total Environment*, 579, 1193-1202.
- Main, Anson R, Headley, John V, Peru, Kerry M, Michel, Nicole L, Cessna, Allan J, &
   Morrissey, Christy A. (2014). Widespread Use and Frequent Detection of Neonicotinoid
   Insecticides in Wetlands of Canada's Prairie Pothole Region. *PLoS One*, 9(3), e92821.
- Main, Anson R, Michel, Nicole L, Headley, John V, Peru, Kerry M, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2015). Ecological and Landscape Drivers of Neonicotinoid Insecticide Detections and Concentrations in Canada's Prairie Wetlands. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(14), 8367-8376.
- Malaj, Egina, Liber, Karsten, & Morrissey, Christy A. (2020). Spatial Distribution of Agricultural Pesticide Use and Predicted Wetland Exposure in the Canadian Prairie Pothole Region. Science of the Total Environment, 718, 134765.
- Mazerolle, Marc J. (2020). Model Selection and Multimodel Inference Using the Aiccmodavg Package. In.

- McIntyre, NE, Liu, G, Gorzo, J, Wright, Chris K, Guntenspergen, Glenn R, & Schwartz, F.
   (2019). Simulating the Effects of Climate Variability on Waterbodies and Wetland Dependent Birds in the Prairie Pothole Region. *Ecosphere*, 10(4), e02711.
- McKenna, Owen P, Kucia, Samuel R, Mushet, David M, Anteau, Michael J, & Wiltermuth, Mark T. (2019). Synergistic Interaction of Climate and Land-Use Drivers Alter the Function of North American, Prairie-Pothole Wetlands. *Sustainability*, 11(23), 6581.
- McLean, Kyle I, Mushet, David M, Sweetman, Jon N, Anteau, Michael J, & Wiltermuth, Mark T. (2020). Invertebrate Communities of Prairie-Pothole Wetlands in the Age of the Aquatic Homogenocene. *Hydrobiologia*, 847(18), 3773-3793.
- McNicol, DK, & Wayland, M. (1992). Distribution of Waterfowl Broods in Sudbury Area Lakes in Relation to Fish, Macroinvertebrates, and Water Chemistry. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 49(S1), 122-133.
- Minnes, Sarah, Gaspard, Valencia, Loring, Philip A, Baulch, Helen, & Breen, Sarah-Patricia. (2020). Transforming Conflict over Natural Resources: A Socio-Ecological Systems Analysis of Agricultural Drainage. *FACETS*, 5(1), 864-886.
- Montgomery, Joshua, Mahoney, Craig, Brisco, Brian, Boychuk, Lyle, Cobbaert, Danielle, & Hopkinson, Chris. (2021). Remote Sensing of Wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region of North America. *Remote Sensing*, 13(19), 3878.
- Montgomery, Joshua S, Hopkinson, Chris, Brisco, Brian, Patterson, Shane, & Rood, Stewart B.
   (2018). Wetland Hydroperiod Classification in the Western Prairies Using Multitemporal Synthetic Aperture Radar. *Hydrological Processes*, 32(10), 1476-1490.
- Moor, Helen, Rydin, Håkan, Hylander, Kristoffer, Nilsson, Mats B, Lindborg, Regina, & Norberg, Jon. (2017). Towards a Trait-Based Ecology of Wetland Vegetation. *Journal of Ecology*, 105(6), 1623-1635.
- Morrissey, C. A., Mineau, P., Devries, J. H., Sanchez-Bayo, F., Liess, M., Cavallaro, M. C., & Liber, K. (2015). Neonicotinoid Contamination of Global Surface Waters and Associated Risk to Aquatic Invertebrates: A Review. *Environ Int*, 74, 291-303. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2014.10.024
- Neff, Brian P, & Rosenberry, Donald O. (2018). Groundwater Connectivity of Upland-Embedded Wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region. *Wetlands*, 38(1), 51-63.
- Nichols, James D, Runge, Michael C, Johnson, Fred A, & Williams, Byron K. (2007). Adaptive Harvest Management of North American Waterfowl Populations: A Brief History and Future Prospects. *Journal of Ornithology*, 148(2), 343-349.
- Niemuth, Neal D, & Solberg, John W. (2003). Response of Waterbirds to Number of Wetlands in the Prairie Pothole Region of North Dakota, USA. *Waterbirds*, *26*(2), 233-238.
- Nowell, Lisa H, Norman, Julia E, Moran, Patrick W, Martin, Jeffrey D, & Stone, Wesley W. (2014). Pesticide Toxicity Index—a Tool for Assessing Potential Toxicity of Pesticide Mixtures to Freshwater Aquatic Organisms. *Science of the Total Environment*, 476, 144-157.
- Oksanen, Jari, Blanchet, F Guillaume, Kindt, Roeland, Legendre, Pierre, Minchin, Peter R, O'hara, RB, . . . Wagner, Helene. (2013). Package 'Vegan'. *Community Ecology Package, version, 2*(9), 1-295.

- Pagano, Anthony M, & Arnold, Todd W. (2009). Detection Probabilities for Ground-Based Breeding Waterfowl Surveys. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 73(3), 392-398.
- Pagano, Anthony M, & Arnold, Todd W. (2009). Estimating Detection Probabilities of Waterfowl Broods from Ground-Based Surveys. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 73(5), 686-694.
- Pattison-Williams, John K, Pomeroy, John W, Badiou, Pascal, & Gabor, Shane. (2018).
  Wetlands, Flood Control and Ecosystem Services in the Smith Creek Drainage Basin: A Case Study in Saskatchewan, Canada. *Ecological Economics*, 147, 36-47.
- Pereira, NC, Diniz, TO, & Ruvolo-Takasusuki, MCC. (2020). Sublethal Effects of Neonicotinoids in Bees: A Review. *Scientific Electronic Archives*, 13(7), 142-152.
- Pieron, Matthew R, & Rohwer, Frank C. (2010). Effects of Large-Scale Predator Reduction on Nest Success of Upland Nesting Ducks. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 74(1), 124-132.
- Pietz, Pamela J, Krapu, Gary L, Brandt, David A, & Cox Jr, Robert R. (2003). Factors Affecting Gadwall Brood and Duckling Survival in Prairie Pothole Landscapes. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 564-575.
- Pindilli, Emily J. (2021). Ecosystem Service Co-Benefits of Wetland Carbon Management. Wetland Carbon and Environmental Management, 401-409.
- Pöysä, Hannu. (1983). Morphology-Mediated Niche Organization in a Guild of Dabbling Ducks. *Ornis Scandinavica*, 317-326.

- Pöysä, Hannu, Elmberg, Johan, Nummi, Petri, & Sjöberg, Kjell. (1994). Species Composition of Dabbling Duck Assemblages: Ecomorphological Patterns Compared with Null Models. *Oecologia*, 98(2), 193-200.
- Pöysä, Hannu, Kotilainen, Juho, Väänänen, Veli-Matti, & Kunnasranta, Mervi. (2018). Estimating Production in Ducks: A Comparison between Ground Surveys and Unmanned Aircraft Surveys. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 64(6), 1-4.
- Quigley, Tyler P, Amdam, Gro V, & Harwood, Gyan H. (2019). Honey Bees as Bioindicators of Changing Global Agricultural Landscapes. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 35, 132-137.
- Rashford, Benjamin S, Bastian, Christopher T, & Cole, Jeffrey G. (2011). Agricultural Land-Use
   Change in Prairie Canada: Implications for Wetland and Waterfowl Habitat
   Conservation. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue canadienne* d'agroeconomie, 59(2), 185-205.
- Ratti, John T, & Reese, Kerry P. (1988). Preliminary Test of the Ecological Trap Hypothesis. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 484-491.
- Reynoldson, TB, Logan, C, Pascoe, T, & Thompson, SP. (2003). Cabin (Canadian Aquatic Biomonitoring Network) Invertebrate Biomonitoring Field and Laboratory Manual. *Environment Canada, National Water Research Institute*.
- Ricci, B, Lavigne, C, Alignier, Audrey, Aviron, S, Biju-Duval, Luc, Bouvier, JC, . . . Ladet,
  Sylvie. (2019). Local Pesticide Use Intensity Conditions Landscape Effects on Biological
  Pest Control. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, 286*(1904), 20182898.

- Rickerl, DH, Janssen, LL, & Woodland, R. (2000). Buffered Wetlands in Agricultural Landscapes in the Prairie Pothole Region: Environmental, Agronomic, and Economic Evaluations. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 55(2), 220-225.
- Ringelman, Kevin M. (2014). Predator Foraging Behavior and Patterns of Avian Nest Success: What Can We Learn from an Agent-Based Model? *Ecological Modelling*, 272, 141-149.
- Ringelman, Kevin M, Eadie, John M, & Ackerman, Joshua T. (2012). Density-Dependent Nest Predation in Waterfowl: The Relative Importance of Nest Density Versus Nest Dispersion. *Oecologia*, 169(3), 695-702.
- Ringelman, Kevin M, Eadie, John M, Ackerman, Joshua T, Sih, Andrew, Loughman, Daniel L, Yarris, Gregory S, . . . McLandress, M Robert. (2017). Spatiotemporal Patterns of Duck Nest Density and Predation Risk: A Multi-Scale Analysis of 18 Years and More Than 10 000 Nests. *Oikos*, *126*(3), 332-338.
- Roberts, Anthony, Eadie, John M, Howerter, David W, Johnson, Fred A, Nichols, James D,
  Runge, Michael C, . . . Williams, Byron K. (2018). Strengthening Links between
  Waterfowl Research and Management. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 82(2), 260-265.
- Rosenberg, Kenneth V, Dokter, Adriaan M, Blancher, Peter J, Sauer, John R, Smith, Adam C, Smith, Paul A, . . . Parr, Michael. (2019). Decline of the North American Avifauna. *Science*, 366(6461), 120-124.
- Roy, Christian, Gilliland, Scott G, & Reed, Eric T. (2021). A Hierarchical Dependent Double-Observer Method for Estimating Waterfowl Breeding Pairs Abundance from Helicopters. *Wildlife Biology*.

- Roy, Christian, Gilliland, Scott G, & Reed, Eric T. (2022). A Hierarchical Dependent Double-Observer Method for Estimating Waterfowl Breeding Pairs Abundance from Helicopters. *Wildlife Biology*, 2022(1).
- Royle, J Andrew. (2004). N-Mixture Models for Estimating Population Size from Spatially Replicated Counts. *Biometrics*, 60(1), 108-115.
- Rumble, Mark A, & Flake, Lester D. (1982). A Comparison of Two Waterfowl Brood Survey Techniques. *The Journal of Wildlife Management, 46*(4), 1048-1053.
- Rylander, Kent. (2021). Screamers, Swans, Geese, and Ducks: Order Anseriformes. In *The Behavior of Texas Birds* (pp. 55-86): University of Texas Press.
- Schacter, Carley R, Peterson, Sarah H, Herzog, Mark P, Hartman, C Alex, Casazza, Michael L, & Ackerman, Joshua T. (2021). Wetland Availability and Salinity Concentrations for Breeding Waterfowl in Suisun Marsh, California. *San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science*, 19(3).
- Schepker, Travis J, Webb, Elisabeth B, Tillitt, Donald, & LaGrange, Ted. (2020). Neonicotinoid Insecticide Concentrations in Agricultural Wetlands and Associations with Aquatic Invertebrate Communities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 287*, 106678.
- Schilling, Keith E, & Dinsmore, Stephen. (2018). Monitoring the Wildlife, Hydrology and Water Quality of Drained Wetlands of the Des Moines Lobe, Northern Iowa: Introduction to Special Feature. *Wetlands*, 38(2), 207-210.

- Schilling, Keith E, Then, Stephanie R, & Ikenberry, Charles D. (2019). Water Balance Modeling of Temporary Ponding in a Drained Prairie Pothole Wetland. *Environmental Modeling & Assessment, 24*(1), 37-48.
- Schrempp, Thomas V, Rachlow, Janet L, Johnson, Timothy R, Shipley, Lisa A, Long, Ryan A,
   Aycrigg, Jocelyn L, & Hurley, Mark A. (2019). Linking Forest Management to Moose
   Population Trends: The Role of the Nutritional Landscape. *PLoS One*, *14*(7), e0219128.
- Sears, Daniel T, & Miller, Craig A. (2018). *Relationship of Snow Goose Hunting Methods on Harvest*. Paper presented at the 2018 Midwest Fish and Wildlife Conference.
- Sedinger, Benjamin S, Riecke, Thomas V, Nicolai, Christopher A, Woolstenhulme, Russell, Henry, William G, & Stewart, Kelley M. (2019). Experimental Harvest Regulations Reveal That Water Availability During Spring, Not Harvest, Affects Change in a Waterfowl Population. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(22), 12701-12709.
- Sedinger, James S. (1992). Ecology of Prefledging Waterfowl. *Ecology and management of breeding waterfowl*, 109-127.
- Service, US Fish & Wildlife. (2012). Adaptive Harvest Management: 2012 Hunting Season. US Department of Interior, Washington, DC, www. fws. gov/migratorybirds/mgmt/AHM/AHM-intro. htm.
- Seymour, Norman, & Jackson, Winston. (1996). Habitat-Related Variation in Movements and Fledging Success of American Black Duck Broods in Northeastern Nova Scotia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 74(6), 1158-1164.

- Sheehan, PJ, Baril, A, Mineau, P, & Paustenbach, DJ. (2020). Predicting the Effects of Insecticides on Aquatic Systems and the Waterfowl That Use Them. In *Fundamentals of Aquatic Toxicology* (pp. 827-857): CRC Press.
- Siviter, Harry, Brown, Mark JF, & Leadbeater, Ellouise. (2018). Sulfoxaflor Exposure Reduces Bumblebee Reproductive Success. *Nature*, *561*(7721), 109-112.
- Smart, Autumn H, Otto, Clint RV, Gallant, Alisa L, & Simanonok, Michael P. (2021).
   Landscape Characterization of Floral Resources for Pollinators in the Prairie Pothole
   Region of the United States. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 30(7), 1991-2015.
- Smith, Graham W. (1995). A Critical Review of the Aerial and Ground Surveys of Breeding Waterfowl in North America. Retrieved from
- Sorenson, Lisa G, Goldberg, Richard, Root, Terry L, & Anderson, Michael G. (1998). Potential Effects of Global Warming on Waterfowl Populations Breeding in the Northern Great Plains. *Climatic change*, 40(2), 343-369.
- Stafford, Joshua D, Janke, Adam K, Anteau, Michael J, Pearse, Aaron T, Fox, Anthony D, Elmberg, Johan, . . . Arzel, Céline. (2014). Spring Migration of Waterfowl in the Northern Hemisphere: A Conservation Perspective. *Wildfowl*, 70–85.
- Stafford, Joshua D, Janke, Adam K, Webb, Elisabeth B, & Chipps, Steven R. (2016).
  Invertebrates in Managed Waterfowl Marshes. In *Invertebrates in Freshwater Wetlands* (pp. 565-600): Springer.
- Stafford, Joshua D, & Pearse, Aaron T. (2007). Survival of Radio-Marked Mallard Ducklings in South Dakota. *The Wilson Journal of Ornithology*, 119(4), 585-591.

- Stephenson, Richard. (1993). The Contributions of Body Tissues, Respiratory System, and Plumage to Buoyancy in Waterfowl. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *71*(8), 1521-1529.
- Stewart, Robert E, & Kantrud, Harold A. (1971). *Classification of Natural Ponds and Lakes in the Glaciated Prairie Region* (Vol. 92): US Bureau of Sport Fisheries and Wildlife.
- Sumudumali, RGI, & Jayawardana, JMCK. (2021). A Review of Biological Monitoring of Aquatic Ecosystems Approaches: With Special Reference to Macroinvertebrates and Pesticide Pollution. *Environmental Management*, 67(2), 263-276.
- Sweeney, Bernard W, Battle, Juliann M, Jackson, John K, & Dapkey, Tanya. (2011). Can DNA Barcodes of Stream Macroinvertebrates Improve Descriptions of Community Structure and Water Quality? *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 30(1), 195-216.
- Tallamy, Douglas W, & Shriver, W Gregory. (2021). Are Declines in Insects and Insectivorous Birds Related? *The Condor, 123*(1), duaa059.
- Tews, Jörg, Brose, Ulrich, Grimm, Volker, Tielbörger, Katja, Wichmann, MC, Schwager, Monika, & Jeltsch, Florian. (2004). Animal Species Diversity Driven by Habitat Heterogeneity/Diversity: The Importance of Keystone Structures. *Journal of Biogeography*, 31(1), 79-92.
- Thompson, Sarah J, Arnold, Todd W, & Vacek, Sara. (2012). Impact of Encroaching Woody Vegetation on Nest Success of Upland Nesting Waterfowl. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 76(8), 1635-1642.

- Ullah, Inam, Wazir, Shabana, Abbas, Naeem, Naeem, Muhammad, Abdullah, Khalid, Mahmood,
   Zahid, . . . Hafez, Abdulwahab M. (2021). Monitoring of Field-Evolved Resistance to
   Flonicamid, Neonicotinoid, and Conventional Insecticides in the Oxycarenus
   Hyalinipennis Costa. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 193*(7), 1-9.
- van der Valk, Arnold G. (2005). Water-Level Fluctuations in North American Prairie Wetlands. *Hydrobiologia*, 539(1), 171-188.
- Vanausdall, Rachel A, & Dinsmore, Stephen J. (2020). Detection and Density of Breeding Marsh Birds in Iowa Wetlands. *PLoS One, 15*(1), e0227825.
- Wade, Andrea. (2021). Role of Vegetated Buffer Zones for Mitigating Wetland Pesticide Contamination and Protecting Aquatic Invertebrate Communities in Northern Prairie Wetlands. University of Saskatchewan,
- Watson, Gerald B, Siebert, Melissa W, Wang, Nick X, Loso, Michael R, & Sparks, Thomas C.
   (2021). Sulfoxaflor–a Sulfoximine Insecticide: Review and Analysis of Mode of Action, Resistance and Cross-Resistance. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 178, 104924.
- Whitehorn, Penelope R, O'connor, Stephanie, Wackers, Felix L, & Goulson, Dave. (2012). Neonicotinoid Pesticide Reduces Bumble Bee Colony Growth and Queen Production. *Science*, 336(6079), 351-352.
- Williams, Byron K, Koneff, Mark D, & Smith, David A. (1999). Evaluation of Waterfowl Conservation under the North American Waterfowl Management Plan. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 417-440.
- Williams, Nate, & Sweetman, Jon. (2019). Distribution and Concentration of Neonicotinoid Insecticides on Waterfowl Production Areas in West Central Minnesota. *Wetlands*, 39(2), 311-319.

Yarrow, Greg. (2009). Waterfowl Biology and Management.

- Zhang, Zhe, Bortolotti, Lauren E, Li, Zhenhua, Armstrong, Llwellyn M, Bell, Tom W, & Li, Yanping. (2021). Heterogeneous Changes to Wetlands in the Canadian Prairies under Future Climate. *Water Resources Research*, 57(7), e2020WR028727.
- Zhang, Zhe, Li, Yanping, Barlage, Michael, Chen, Fei, Miguez-Macho, Gonzalo, Ireson,
   Andrew, & Li, Zhenhua. (2020). Modeling Groundwater Responses to Climate Change in
   the Prairie Pothole Region. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 24(2), 655-672.